
   
CITY OF PLYMOUTH, WISCONSIN 

TUESDAY, JUNE 24, 2025 COMMON COUNCIL MEETING  
7:00 PM COUNCIL CHAMBERS, ROOM 302 

128 SMITH ST. PLYMOUTH, WI 53073 
 

AGENDA  
 

1. Call to order and roll call:  
 

2. Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
3. Approval of the Consent Agenda (Alderpersons may request removal of item(s), or 

part thereof without debate or vote):  
A. Approve minutes of the meeting held Tuesday, June 10, 2025 
B. Approve City and Utility Reports: 

I. Electric, Water and Sewer Sales Report – May 2025 
II. Utility Related Write Offs for June 2025 - $706.92 

C. Minutes acknowledged for filing –- Committee of the Whole: May 27 – Joint 
Review Board: June 5 – Board of Appeals: June 5 - Plan Commission: June 5 

D. Approve Alcohol Beverage License Applications July 1, 2025 to June 30, 2026: 
Approved by Police Department and Clerk’s Office 

E. Approve request from the Plymouth School District to hold the annual 
Homecoming Parade on October 3, 2025. Line up beginning at 3:15 PM. 
Parade starts 4:15 PM at Mill St. and Caroline St. going East to North St. 
 

4. Audience Comments: Citizens comments must be recognized by the mayor or 
presiding officer and are limited to three minutes per person from those signed in on 
the registration sheet located at the back of the Council Chambers prior to the start of 
the meeting. 

 
5. Items removed from Consent Agenda: 

 
6. Resolution  

A. No. 8 – Consideration and Possible Action on a “Resolution Creating Tax 
Incremental District No. 8, Approving its Project Plan and Establishing 
its Boundaries.” – Tim Blakeslee, City Administrator / Utilities Manager 

B. No 9. – Resolution Authorizing The Issuance and Sale of not to Exceed 
$6,990,000 General Obligation Promissory Notes, Series 2025A– Tim 
Blakeslee, City Administrator / Utilities Manager 
 
 

7. New Business: 
A. Discussion and Possible Action on Development Agreement with LAG 

Family LLC – Tim Blakeslee, City Administrator / Utilities Manager 
B. Discussion and Possible Action on Offers to Purchase Property for West 

Stafford Parking Lot Project (5 Properties) – Tim Blakeslee, City 
Administrator / Utilities Manager 

C. Discussion and Possible Action on Easements for West Stafford Parking 
Project (3 Properties) – Tim Blakeslee, City Administrator / Utilities 
Manager 

 



   
8. Entertain a Motion to go into Closed Session for the following: 

Pursuant to Wis. Stat. 19.85 (g) conferring with legal counsel for the government 
body who is rendering oral or written advice concerning strategy to be adopted by the 
body with respect to litigation in which it is or is likely to become involved and 
Pursuant to Wis. Stat. 19.85(1)(f) Considering financial, medical, social or personal 
histories or disciplinary data of specific persons, preliminary consideration of specific 
personnel problems or the investigation of charges against specific persons except 
where par. (b) applies which, if discussed in public, would be likely to have a 
substantial adverse effect upon the reputation of any person referred to in such histories 
or data, or involved in such problems or investigations regarding - North Building at 
parcel 59271822060 
 
AND 
 
Pursuant to Wis. Stat. 19.85(e) deliberating or negotiating the purchasing of public 
properties, the investing of public funds or conducting other specified public business, 
whenever competitive or bargaining require a closed session – Sargento TID #9 
Application 
 
AND 
 
Pursuant to Wis. Stat. 19.85 (1) (c) and (e) considering employments, promotion, 
compensation or performance evaluation data of any public employee over which the 
governmental body has jurisdiction or exercises responsibility and deliberating or 
negotiating the purchasing of public properties, the investing of public funds, or 
conducting other specified public business, whenever competitive or bargaining reasons 
require a closed session – Police Union Contract 
 

 
9. Entertain a Motion to go into Open Session 

 
10. Discussion and Possible Action on Closed Session Items 

 
11. Adjourn to 7:00 PM on Tuesday, July 8, 2025 

 
It is likely a quorum of members of other governmental bodies of the municipality may be in attendance at the above stated meeting to 
gather information.  No action will be taken by any governmental body at the above stated meeting other than the governmental body 
specifically referred to above in this notice. 
 
Please note that, upon reasonable notice, efforts will be made to accommodate the needs of disabled individuals through appropriate aids 
and services.  For additional information or to request this service, please contact the City of Plymouth ADA Coordinator Leah 
Federwisch, located in the Plymouth Utilities office at 900 County Road PP, Plymouth, WI or call 920-893-3853.  



   
CITY OF PLYMOUTH, WISCONSIN 

TUESDAY, JUNE 10, 2025 COMMON COUNCIL MEETING  
128 SMITH ST. PLYMOUTH, WI 53073 

 
UNOFFICIAL MINUTES  

 
1. Call to order and roll call: Mayor Pohlman called the meeting to order at 7:00 PM. On 

the call of the roll, the following were present: Jeff Tauscheck, Dave Herrmann, Angie 
Matzdorf, Diane Gilson, Greg Hildebrand, Mike Penkwitz, John Binder and Kevin Sande. 
Also present: City Administrator/Utilities Manager Tim Blakeslee, Assistant 
Administrator/Community Development Director Jack Johnston, City Attorney Crystal 
Fieber, Police Chief Ken Ruggles, Director of Public Works Cathy Austin, and City 
Clerk/Deputy Treasurer Anna Voigt. 

 
2. Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
3. Approval of the Consent Agenda (Alderpersons may request removal of item(s), or 

part thereof without debate or vote): Motion was made by Tauscheck/Binder to approve 
the consent agenda. Upon the call of the roll, all voted aye. Motion carried.  

A. Approve minutes of the meeting held Tuesday, May 27, 2025 and Monday, 
June 2, 2025 

B. Approve City and Utility Reports: 
I. List of City & Utility Vouchers dated 05/01/2025 – 05/31/2025 

C. Minutes acknowledged for filing –- Library Board: May 5 – Police and Fire 
Commission: May 6 - Community Television: May 12 –– Finance & Personnel: 
May 27 - Housing Authority: June 12 

D. Building Report for May 2025 – 42 Permits at $2,400,738 
E. Approve Alcohol Beverage License Applications July 1, 2025 to June 30, 2026: 

Approved by Police Department and Clerk’s Office 
F. Approve Temporary Class “B” Alcohol License for Generations – Summer 

Concert Series, to be held at 1500 Douglas Dr. on June 17, July 15, August 19, 
and September 16 from 5:30 PM – 8:00 PM. Underage persons are requested 
to be on the premise. 
 

4. Audience Comments: Citizens comments must be recognized by the mayor or 
presiding officer and are limited to three minutes per person from those signed in on 
the registration sheet located at the back of the Council Chambers prior to the start of 
the meeting: None 

 
5. Items removed from Consent Agenda: None 

 
6. New Business: 

A. Discussion and Possible Action on Extraterritorial Certified Survey Map 
(CSM); N5806 County Rd M. – Located in the Town of Sheboygan Falls – 
Johnston explained that Scholler Property Management, LLC has submitted 
an application of a CSM in the Town of Sheboygan Falls that is located in the 
City of Plymouth Extraterritorial Review jurisdiction, 1.5 miles from City of 
Plymouth boundaries. Motion was made by Matzdorf/Tauscheck to approve 
the Extraterritorial CSM for N5806 County Rd M. Upon the call of the roll, all 
voted aye. Motion carried. 

B. Discussion and Possible Action on Extraterritorial Certified Survey Map 
(CSM); 59016215041, 59016215042, and 59016215070 – Located on the 
Southwest Corner of Woodland Rd and State Highway 57 in the Town of 
Plymouth – Johnston explained that In-n-Out Storage LLC & Louis A Prange 



   
Revocable Living Trust has submitted an application for approval of CSM in 
the Town of Plymouth that is located in the City of Plymouth Extraterritorial 
Review jurisdiction. Motion was made by Herrmann/Tauscheck to approve 
the Extraterritorial CSM for 59016215041, 59016215042, and 59016215070. 
Upon the call of the roll, all voted aye. Motion carried. 

 
7. Ordinance  

A. Ordinance No. 11 An Ordinance Amending Section 15-4-5, Safe and 
Sanitary Maintenance of Property of the Municipal Code of the City of 
Plymouth, Wisconsin– Johnston explained that staff presented updated 
ordinance language in Plymouth Municipal Code 15-4-5 to correct a 
deficiency with current language that does not explicitly require property 
owners in the City to install some sort of ground cover/landscaping on their 
properties. Motion was made by Binder/Tauscheck to approve Ordinance No. 
11. Upon the call of the roll, all voted aye. Motion carried. 

 
8. Resolution  

A. No. 7 – Approve the Compliance Maintenance Resolution to the 
Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources (CMAR) – Austin explained 
that the CMAR is an annual self-evaluation tool under Wisconsin 
Administrative Code Chapter NR 208, required for both publicly and privately 
owned domestic wastewater treatment works. The report describes how the 
plant was managed over the previous year, assesses compliance with WPDES 
permit limits, identifies any performance deficiencies, and outlines proposed 
actions needed to maintain compliance and improve operations. The overall 
grade for the treatment plant for the 2024 Calendar was an “A”. Motion was 
made by Tauscheck/Matzdorf to approve Resolution 7 of 2025 for the 2024 
Compliance Maintenance Annual Report. Mayor Pohlman noted it was nice to 
another “A” rating. Binder asked for Director Austin to explain the last 
sentence regarding the overflow of the wastewater in June of 2024. The 
sentence reads “Since this incident we are addressing our headwork pumps 
efficiency along with I/I when road projects are underway. Austin explained 
that throughout there are some clay sanitary laterals. As the city does road 
projects every year they will be replacing at least the section under the 
roadway and that will help with I/I (Inflow & Infiltration). Austin added that 
in this case the amount of rain per hour that was received the headwork in the 
treatment plant couldn’t keep up. Binder asked if improvements will be 
needed in the future if that would be part of it. Austin stated it would be part 
of it and if you can send more waste up faster is it going to create other issues 
up on the main plant. Upon the call of the roll, all voted aye. Motion carried. 

 
9. Proclamation 

A. Recognition of Plymouth Pioneers American Legion Baseball Week,  
June 16 – June 20 – Mayor Pohlman read the proclamation for the Plymouth 
Pioneers American Legion Baseball Week. The Mayor presented the 
Proclamation to the coach and two players. The home opener will be June 17 
at Carl Loebe Field. Motion was made by Tauscheck/Herrman to approve the 
proclamation. A unanimous aye vote was cast. Motion carried. 

 
10. Entertain a Motion to go into Closed Session for the following: Motion was made by 

Matzdorf/Tauscheck to go into closed session. Upon the call of the roll, all voted aye. 
Motion carried. 
Pursuant to Wis. Stat. 19.85 (e) deliberating or negotiating the purchasing of public 
properties, the investing of public funds or conducting other specified public business, 



   
whenever competitive or bargaining require a closed session – Negotiations regarding 
West Stafford Street Parking Lot Project and LAG Family LLC 

 
11. Entertain a Motion to go into Open Session: Motion was made by Tauscheck/Penkwitz 

to go into open session. Upon the call of the roll, all voted aye. Motion carried. 
 

12. Discussion and Possible Action on Closed Session Items: None 
 

13. Adjourn to 7:00 PM on Tuesday, June 24, 2025: Motion was made by 
Tauscheck/Matzdorf to adjourn the meeting. A unanimous aye vote was cast. Motion 
carried.  



Plymouth Utilities
MAY 2025

SALES & REVENUE



May 2025 Electric Sales

7.7%
4.7%

-13.8%

-11.1%
 (0)

 2,000,000
 4,000,000
 6,000,000
 8,000,000

 10,000,000
 12,000,000
 14,000,000
 16,000,000
 18,000,000

10. Residential 12. Commercial 13. Industrial 14. Other

Month Electric Sales (kwH)

May-25 May-24 % Var

4.5%

5.9%

-6.4%

-6.0%
 (0)

 10,000,000
 20,000,000
 30,000,000
 40,000,000
 50,000,000
 60,000,000
 70,000,000
 80,000,000

10. Residential 12. Commercial 13. Industrial 14. Other

YTD Electric Sales (kwH)

May YTD 2025 May YTD 2024 % Var



May 2025 Electric Revenue

11.6%

9.9%

-1.2%

3.1%
$0

$200,000

$400,000

$600,000

$800,000

$1,000,000

$1,200,000

10. Residential 12. Commercial 13. Industrial 14. Other

Month Electric Revenue

May-25 May-24 % Var

3.5%

4.7%

-4.5%

1.1%
$0

$1,000,000

$2,000,000

$3,000,000

$4,000,000

$5,000,000

$6,000,000

10. Residential 12. Commercial 13. Industrial 14. Other

YTD Electric Revenue

May YTD 2025 May YTD 2024 % Var



May 2025 Water Revenue

2.4%

-3.1%

62.3%

-21.1%

7.7%

0.2%

$0

$10,000

$20,000

$30,000

$40,000

$50,000

$60,000

$70,000

$80,000

20. Residential 21. Multifamily 22. Commercial 23. Industrial 24. Other 25. Fire Protect

Month Water Revenue

May-25 May-24 % Var

-0.1%

-2.1%
41.4%

-13.0%

13.0%

0.1%

$0

$50,000

$100,000

$150,000

$200,000

$250,000

$300,000

$350,000

$400,000

20. Residential 21. Multifamily 22. Commercial 23. Industrial 24. Other 25. Fire Protect

YTD Water Revenue

May YTD 2025 May YTD 2024 % Var



May 2025 Sewer Revenue

2.5%

16.3%

-32.9%

16.7%

$0

$20,000

$40,000

$60,000

$80,000

$100,000

$120,000

$140,000

$160,000

30. Residential 32. Commercial 33. Industrial 34. Other

Month Sewer Revenue

May-25 May-24 % Var

-0.4%

13.6%

-19.7%

25.9%

$0

$100,000

$200,000

$300,000

$400,000

$500,000

$600,000

$700,000

30. Residential 32. Commercial 33. Industrial 34. Other

YTD Sewer Revenue

May YTD 2025 May YTD 2024 % Var



Electric
$9,086,288 

81%

Water
$982,244 

9%

Sewer
$1,176,930 

10%

2025 Utility Revenue



Page: 1Transaction Register - Daily by Reference NumberPLYMOUTH UTILITIES

Jun 17, 2025 6:15PMDates: 05/20/2025 - 06/17/2025

Report Criteria:

     Selected types: Write Off

Name
Customer
Number Type

Reference
Number Description Source ID

Check
Number Amount Msg Service

Write Off

05/20/2025

SCHMITZ, KELLY 10.87.73052.09 Write 1 In house write off .38- M ELEC MET

Total 05/20/2025: .38-

05/21/2025

BENTZ, MICHAEL E 10.87.24225.03 Write 1 write off .56- M ELEC MET

Total 05/21/2025: .56-

05/22/2025

GREENE, MATTHEW 13.87.15854.13 Write 1 Write off - Bankruptcy 705.98- M Multiple

Total 05/22/2025: 705.98-

Total Write Off: 706.92-

Grand Totals: 706.92-

Msg: M= Manually Allocated    F= Final Bill

Um0-008{Um0-008}
Um0-008{Um0-008}
Amount
Um0-008{Um0-008}
Um0-008{Um0-008}
Amount
Amount
Um0-008{Um0-008}
Um0-008{Um0-008}
Amount
Amount
Um0-008{Um0-008}
Um0-008{Um0-008}
Amount
Amount
Amount
Amount


 
 
 
  

CITY OF PLYMOUTH, WISCONSIN 
TUESDAY, MAY 27, 2025 COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MEETING 

COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
CITY HALL, 128 SMITH STREET 

 
UNOFFICIAL MINUTES 

 
1. Call to Order and Roll Call: Mayor Pohlman called the meeting to order at 6:23 PM. On 

the call of the roll, the following were present: Diane Gilson, John Binder, Dave 
Herrmann, Mike Penkwitz, Kevin Sande, Angie Matzdorf Greg Hildebrand, and Jeff 
Tauscheck. Also present: City Administrator/Utilities Manager Tim Blakeslee, Assistant 
Administrator/Community Development Director Jack Johnston, Police Chief Ken 
Ruggles, Electrical Operation Manager Ryan Roehrborn, Finance Manager Chris Russo, 
and City Clerk/Deputy Treasurer Anna Voigt. 
 

2. Approve the Minutes from May 13, 2025: Motion was made by Gilson/Herrman to 
approve the minutes from May 13. A unanimous aye vote was cast. Motion carried. 

 
3. Discussion and Possible Recommendation on Ground Cover Ordinance: Johnston 

explained with future residential development already underway and expected to continue 
into the future, City staff wanted to provide clarifying language in the code in regards to 
yard maintenance. Code already provides regulation in regards to natural lawns and grass 
height; however, this does not extend to overall lawn maintenance and the requirement 
some sort of lawn be planted. The proposed ordinance would revise code language to 
ensure adequate lawn plantings and lawn care are installed with the upcoming housing 
projects. Mayor Pohlman asked how enforcement would work if someone says no. 
Johnston stated that it generally would run on complaint basis. When a complaint comes 
into City Hall it would be inspected than a letter or phone call would be sent out with a 
timeline. Blakeslee added if eventually they still didn’t do anything they would be issued a 
municipal citation. Binder stated that the ordinance is pretty specific in terms of what a 
lawn is. Mostly what is talked about in the proposed ordinance is foliage. Binder stated that 
he has been in communities where lawns have been turf, wildflower meadows, or even 
small pebbles. Binder asked if some specific language should be added if anyone wants a 
lawn that doesn’t fit the description they should appear a committee to make a 
recommendation. Johnston stated there is an ordinance currently for natural lawns. There 
isn’t anything in the code currently that would allow turf or pebble lawns. Hildebrand 
added what if they want to cement their whole yard or a desert landscaping. Matzdorf 
asked is some of it not considered lawn anymore. Johnston stated he will take everyone’s 
feedback and work with the City Attorney to craft an Ordinance to bring back to Council.  

 
4. Presentation from Ehlers on Municipal Bonding 101 and TIF 101: Kayla Thorpe from 

Ehlers presented to the Committee on Municipal Bonding and briefly on TIFs. 
 

5. Adjourn: Motion was made by Binder/Tauscheck to adjourn the meeting at 7:16 PM. A 
unanimous aye vote was cast. Motion carried. 

 
 



 
 

 
JOINT REVIEW BOARD 

CITY OF PLYMOUTH 
 

TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 8 
 

June 5, 2025 at 9:30 AM  
 

Minutes 
 

1. Call to order: The meeting was called to order at 9:30 AM in Room 210 at Plymouth City 
Hall, 128 Smith Street, Plymouth, Wisconsin, by Don Pohlman 

 
2. Roll call: The following were present: Don Pohlman, John Wyatt – LTC Member, Amy 

Williams – Plymouth School District Member, and Thomas Wegner – Sheboygan County 
member. 

 
3. Appointments (as needed): 

 
a. Public member: None 

 
b. Chairperson: Wegner/Wyatt made a motion to nominate Don Pohlman as 

Chairperson. Wyatt/Wegner made a motion to close nominations. Upon the call of 
the roll all voted aye for Pohlman as Chairperson. Motion carried. 

 
4. Review responsibilities of the Joint Review Board: Kayla Thorpe from Ehlers discussed 

the responsibilities of the Joint Review Board. The Joint Review Board is first presented 
the project of TID No. 8. It will go to Plan Commission for approval of the Resolution, 
then Common Council for approval of the Resolution and back to the Joint Review Board. 

 
5. Review and discuss draft Project Plan: Thorpe explained that TID #8 is a proposed in 

need of rehabilitation or conservation district made of up approximately 9.84 acres located 
along E Mill and Stafford St. The district will be created to pay the costs of acquisition of 
property, rights of way or easements, site preparation, installation or rehabilitation of 
utilities and street, payment of cash grants as development incentives to owners, lessees, 
or developers of land located within the district to be developed by LAG Family, LLC. 
Thorpe explained the “but for” requirements. As part of all creation resolutions, a 
municipality must affirm that the development would not happen “but for” the use of a 
TIF. Wegner asked to confirm if the property 12 S Milwaukee St, the old utilities building. 
Blakeslee confirmed that the address was part of the TID. Wegner also asked to confirm 
that the bridge at Stafford St was included. Blakeslee stated that it was. Wyatt asked if the 
parcels in TID #5 would be affected. Thorpe explained that no the parcels that are in both 
TIDs wouldn’t affect TID #5.  

 
6. Set next meeting date to consider approval of the TID: Staff is going to email members 

for the next meeting date.  
 

7. Adjourn: Motion was made Wegner/Wyatt to adjourn the meeting. A unanimous aye vote 
was cast. Motion carried. 



CITY OF PLYMOUTH, WISCONSIN 
THURSDAY, JUNE 5, 2025 BOARD OF APPEALS 

5:00 PM CITY HALL, ROOM 305 
128 SMITH ST. PLYMOUTH, WI 53073 

 
UNOFFICIAL MINUTES 

 
 

1. Call to order and roll call: The meeting was called to order at 5:00 PM. On call of the roll, 
the following were present: William Barbieur, John Nelson and Jane Meyer. Also present: 
City Administrator/Utilities Manager Tim Blakeslee, Assistant Administrator/Community 
Development Director Jack Johnston, City Attorney Crystal Fieber and City Clerk/Deputy 
Treasurer Anna Voigt. 
 

2. Appoint Pro Tem Chairperson: Nelson nominated Meyer. Meyer declined the nomination. 
Motion was made by Nelson/Meyer to nominate Barbierur. A unanimous aye vote was cast. 
Motion carried. 

 
3. Approval of May 1, 2025 minutes: Motion was made Nelson/Meyer to approve the minutes. 

A unanimous aye vote was cast. Motion carried. 
 

4. Public hearing and consideration of a petition from 413 North St., Jacqueline Koch, for 
relief from PMC 13-1-82 for the construction of a second-story addition on an existing 
non-conforming structure in the R-2 Single Family Residential District. The applicant 
Jacqueline Koch asked if she retracked her request if she could be refunded her deposit. 
Attorney responded that typically refunds aren’t given. If a refund was given it wouldn’t be 
the full amount due to notice and publication fees.  Koch decided to proceed with the hearing. 
Koch explained she is requesting to expand the already existing second level of her property. 
There is currently a flat roof portion that need to be replaced. There has been water damage 
that has been ongoing in the property over the last few years. She would like to not put a flat 
roof back on the house. The addition would not encroach any further on the property line. 
Nelson asked if any of the neighbors had objections. Johnston stated there was a class 2 
notice put in the paper and notices were mailed to neighbors within 100 ft. Johnston went 
over staff comments. The property is a legal non-conforming property due to side yard 
setbacks of the existing structure. The addition would not increase the footprint of the home 
and would not create a new non-conformity, or increase the existing non-conformity. 
Johnston added that the Plan Commission is looking at this Ordinance later today. Council 
has endorsed staff to look into the non-conforming ordinance. Clerk confirmed that no 
written comments were filed. From the public Jeanna and Joshua Gumtow stated anything to 
be done to the property and leave it vacant would be good. Mike Hoefler asked if the only 
thing making this property non-conforming is the setbacks. Johnston stated yes, it’s the side 
setbacks. Joshua Gumtow asked about runoff since the pitch of the roof is leaning towards 
their garage? Koch stated they are going to put a French drain in that will also benefit the 
Gumtow’s. Mayor Don Pohlman stated that he asked pending the discussion at the Plan 
Commission that refund could be considered. Barbierur closed the public hearing portion. 
Attorney Fieber went through the hardships. The board agreed all three hardships were met. 
Based on the boards findings the variance is granted.   

 
5. Adjourn: Motion was made by Meyer/Nelson to adjourn the meeting. A unanimous 

aye vote was cast. 



City of Plymouth Plan Commission  
June 5, 2025 

UNOFFICIAL MINUTES 
 

Mayor Pohlman called the meeting to order at 6:00 PM on June 5, 2025. The following members 
were present: Jane Meyer, Justin Schmitz, John Wyatt, and Mayor Pohlman. Also present: City 
Administrator/Utilities Manager Tim Blakeslee, Assistant City Administrator/Community Development 
Director Jack Johnston, Fire Chief Ryan Pafford and City Clerk/Deputy Treasurer Anna Voigt.  
 
 

1.) Approval of Minutes from May 1, 2025: Motion was made Wyatt/Schmitz to approve the 
minutes. Upon the call of the roll, all voted aye. Motion carried. 

 
2.) Discussion and Possible Recommendation of Extraterritorial Certified Survey Map; 

N5806 County Road M, Plymouth, WI 53073 - located in the Town of Sheboygan 
Falls. Scholler Property Management, LLC: Johnston stated that Scholler Property 
management, LLC has submitted an application for approval of a CSM in the Town of 
Sheboygan Falls that is located in the City of Plymouth Extraterritorial Review jurisdiction, 
1.5 miles from the City’s boundaries. The land division has already been approved by the 
to Town of Sheboygan Falls. Motion was made by Wyatt/Schmitz to approve the 
Extraterritorial CSM at N5806 County Rd. M. Upon the call of the roll, all voted aye. Motion 
carried. 

 
3.) Discussion and Possible Recommendation of Extraterritorial Certified Survey Map; 

Parcel numbers 59016215041, 59016215042, and 59016215070 – located on the 
southwest corner of Woodland Rd and State Highway 57 in the Town of Plymouth. 
In-n-Out Storage LLC & Louis A. Prange Revocable Living Trust: Ted Scharl was 
there on behalf of Louis Prange. He explained that he would like to split the 60 acres down 
the middle with the east portion going to In-n-Out storage and the west portion retained by 
the trust. Motion was made by Schmitz/Wyatt to approve the Extraterritorial CSM of 
59016215041, 59016215042 and 59016215070. Johnston added this is located in the 
Town of Plymouth, but just like the previous item it is in the 1.5-mile radius of the City of 
Plymouth. Pohlman asked the applicant if this would be creating out lots? Scharl stated 
that it would not be. Lot 1 is on woodland and Lot 2 is on Hwy 57. Upon the call of the roll, 
all voted aye. Motion carried. 

 
4.) Public Hearing: A public hearing to take comment on a conditional use permit 

application for the following: 
a. 2600 Kiley Way, ARHC AHPLYW101, LLC (dba Aurora Health Care) regarding 

a conditional use permit amendment application seeking to install four (4) 
additional ground mounted solar arrays on their property for a total number 
of eight (8) ground mounted solar arrays on site in the B-3 Business Highway 
District as allowed through Conditional Use Permit per PMC 13-1-132(c)(1). 
White: Pohlman declared a public hearing at 6:10 PM. Johnston explained that this 
is an amendment application. Aurora wishes to expand the existing ground 
mounted solar array field located directly west of the Aurora building at 2600 Kiley 
Way. The want to add 4 additional units which will power 50% of the building. Code 
does require a Conditional Use Permit for the installation of solar rays. Code also 
requires a decommissioning plan with the conditional use permit application. It was 
reviewed by staff and does follow code. With no further comments the public 
hearing was closed at 6:13 PM. Motion was made by Schmitz/Wyatt to approve the 



conditional use permit amendment. Upon the call of the roll, all voted aye. Motion 
carried. 

 
5.) Site Plan Seeking Approval: 2600 Kiley Way, ARHC AHPLYW101, LLC (dba Aurora 

Health Care) seeking to install four (4) additional ground mounted solar arrays on 
their property for a total number of eight (8) ground mounted solar arrays on site in 
the B-3 Business Highway District as part of a related conditional use permit 
application. Johnston explained that this item is related to the previous item. This item is 
just for a site plan approval which is needed for commercial properties. Motion was made 
by Wyatt/Schmitz to approve the site plan. Upon the call of the roll, all voted aye. Motion 
carried. 

 
6.) Public Hearing regarding the proposed creation of Tax Incremental District No. 8, 

the proposed boundaries of the District, and the proposed Project Plan for the 
District.: Pohlman declared a public hearing at 6:15 PM. Blakeslee gave a brief 
explanation of a TIF. The city is proposing TID #8 designated as a Rehabilitation District. 
This is to encompass the downtown Laack Block redevelopment area and adjacent 
properties. It is designed to support a mix of public improvements including a 
redesigned/rebuilt parking lot, infrastructure upgrades, property acquisition, legal and 
engineering services, financing, and administrative costs. The hotel and related 
improvements are projected to add approximately $6.5 million in new increment value to 
the district. As required by state law, the “but for” test has been applied, indicating that this 
development as presented, including that this development as presented, including the 
parking lot improvements, would not occur without the support of TIF. Kayla Thorpe from 
Ehlers, reviewed the project plan for TID #8. Gerry Schwoerer from the public stated she is 
in the district and asked how it was going to affect her tax rate as opposed to the overall 
City. Thorpe stated that the short of it is it won’t have affect to her at all. When TIDs are 
created the base value of parcels at the date of creation will be frozen. That value that is 
frozen will be the value your taxes are generated from and distributed to the taxing 
jurisdictions. Any new value over and beyond that, those tax dollars will be put back into 
the district to pay for project costs. When the tax bill is received it won’t have a different tax 
rate than anyone else in the City. How the City funnels that money will be change. With no 
further comments Pohlman closed the public hearing at 6:42 PM.  

 
7.) Consideration and possible action on a “Resolution Establishing the Boundaries of 

and Approving the Project Plan for Tax Incremental District No. 8.”: Motion was made 
by Schmitz/Wyatt to approve the Resolution Establishing the Boundaries of and Approving 
the Project Plan for Tax Incremental District No. 8. Wyatt asked if the Laack Block was in 
TID #5? Blakeslee stated that the parcel is not in TID #5. Pohlman added some parcels in 
TID #8 and TID #5 overlap in areas. Upon the call of the roll, all voted aye. Motion carried. 

 
8.) Discussion and direction on legal non-conforming structures and lots: Pohlman 

explained that before the Plan Commission meeting there was a Board of Appeals 
meeting that is related to this item. Johnston explained that currently non-conforming 
structures within the City ordinance language prohibits expansions/additions to them. 
Johnston handed out a map to explain what a non-conforming structure would be. Non-
conforming structure is a structure that has some sort of misalignment with current zoning 
standards. That could be heights, setbacks from property lines, it could be width of the lot. 
Currently the code is not flexible to property owners who have a legal non-conforming 
structure, which is a lot of the time their home. The Board of Appeals item, that was 
passed, the applicant had a legal non-conforming structure and couldn’t put on a vertical 
addition. Schmitz asked if the majority of the houses are legal non-conforming due to 



setbacks. Johnston confirmed most of them are due to setback because of the historic 
smaller lots. Schmitz asked if at one time these smaller lots were conforming and as 
ordinances update, they became non-conforming. Johnston confirmed that is what 
happened and something that could happen in the future. The commission agreed that 
option 2 on vertical additions, they should be allowed to existing non-conforming structures 
so long as the addition does no expand the footprint of the non-conforming structure. 
Johnston asked the commission about Lateral Additions. Pohlman stated that would make 
sense to allow the extension of the wall line. Wyatt added there could be a problem 
between neighbors. If you extend the wall line you could get close to your neighbor’s 
house. Johnston asked if the commission preferred that these come to plan commission, 
council or handled administratively? The commission agreed that Plan Commission should 
be involved and neighbors should be notified.  

 
9.) Communication – Letters, E-mails, or reports Related to the Plan Commission 

(Chairman, Secretary, Plan Commission Members, City of Plymouth 
Staff/Alderpersons): The next meeting was moved to July 10 at 6 PM. 

 
Motion was made by Wyatt/Schmitz to adjourn the meeting. A unanimous aye vote was 
cast. Motion carried. 

 
 
 



July 1, 2025 – June 30 2026 Alcohol Licenses 

Business Name / Trade 
Name 

Applicant Address Location of 
Premises 

Agent License 

Walgreens Co / 
Walgreens #01497 
 

PO Box 901  
Deerfield, IL 
60015 

2455 Eastern Ave 
Plymouth, WI 
53073 

Johnathan 
Porkert 

Class “A” Beer 

Oneguide Inc. / Tietz’s 
Piggly Wiggly #336 

1411 Eastern Ave. 
Plymouth, WI 
53073 

1411 Eastern Ave. 
Plymouth, WI 
53073 

Mark Tietz Class “A” Beer / 
“Class A” Liquor 

Hariomkrishna 
Patroleum Inc. / 
Plymouth BP 

1312 Eastern Ave. 
Plymouth, WI 
53073 

1312 Eastern Ave. 
Plymouth, WI 
53073 

Dhaval Patel Class “A” Beer / 
“Class A” Liquor 

Hollandtown Minimart 
LLC / Plymouth Shell 

1403 Eastern Ave. 
Plymouth, WI 
53073 

1403 Eastern Ave. 
Plymouth, WI 
53073 

Durga Tiwari Class “A” Beer / 
“Class A” Liquor 

Plymouth Cut Rate 
Liquor Inc. / Cut Rate 
Liquor 

1516 Eastern Ave.  
Plymouth, WI 
53073 

1516 Eastern Ave. 
Plymouth, WI 
53073 

Navneil Gill Class”A” Beer / 
“Class A” Liquor 

Weber Family Stations 
LLC / Weber’s of 
Plymouth 

PO Box 174  
Kiel, WI 53042 

3250 Highway PP 
Plymouth, WI 
53073 

Dennis Weber Class “A” Beer / 
“Class A” Liquor 

Plymouth Softball 
Association Inc./  
Plymouth Softball 
Association 

PO Box 524 
Plymouth, WI 
53073 

1555 Riverview Rd 
Plymouth, WI 
53073 

Terri 
Schumacher 

Class “B” Beer 

Hariomkrishna 
Petroleum Inc / 
Plymouth Restaurant 
and Bar 

1312 Eastern Ave. 
Plymouth, WI 
53073 

1312 Eastern Ave. 
Plymouth, WI 
53073 

Dhavalkumar 
Patel 

Class “B” Beer / 
“Class C” Wine 

Red Shorts Café LLC / 
Red Shorts Café 

210 E Mill St. 
Plymouth, WI 
53073 

210 E Mill St. 
Plymouth, WI 
53073 

Lawrence 
Littig 

Class “B” Beer / 
“Class C” Wine 

Devour WI / Devour 1611 Eastern Ave. 
Plymouth, WI 
53073 

1611 Eastern Ave. 
Plymouth, WI 
53073 

Dennis Erdly Class “B” Beer / 
“Class C” Wine 

Uncle Dinos Pizza, LLC / 
Dinos Pizza 

19 S Milwaukee 
St. 
Plymouth, WI 
53073 

19 S Milwaukee St. 
Plymouth, WI 
53073 

Travis 
Lambrecht 

Class “B” Beer / 
“Class C” Wine 



In the Bag LLC / Turner 
Hall Bar & Grill 

202 Elizabeth St. 
Plymouth, WI 
53073 

202 Elizabeth St. 
Plymouth, WI 
53073 

Andra 
Humphrey 

Class “B” Beer / 
“Class B” Liquor 

Frank’s Pizza Inc. / 
DeO’s Pizzeria & Pub 

417 E Mill St. 
Plymouth, WI 
53073 

417 E Mill St. 
Plymouth, WI 
53073 

Sarah Frank Class “B” Beer / 
“Class B” Liquor 

Big Billy’s Family, LLC / 
Big Billy’s  

437 E Mill St. 
Plymouth, WI 
53073 

437 E Mill St. 
Plymouth, WI 
53073 

Marta 
Sayatovic 

Class “B” Beer / 
“Class B” Liquor 

Panko Enterprises LLC / 
Sweet Basil 

645 Walton Dr. 
Plymouth, WI 
53073 

645 Walton Dr. 
Plymouth, WI 
53073 

Sara Immel Class “B” Beer / 
“Class B” Liquor 

Las Brisas II LLC / Las 
Brisas  

1414 Eastern Ave. 
Plymouth, WI 
53073 

1414 Eastern Ave. 
Plymouth, WI 
53073 

Sandra 
Bocardo 

Class “B” Beer / 
“Class B” Liquor 

The Fig and The 
Pheasant, LLC / Moxie 

PO Box 384 
Plymouth, WI 
53073 

301 E Mill St. 
Plymouth, WI 
53073 

Patrick 
O’Toole 

Class “B” Beer / 
“Class B” Liquor 

 







 

 
 
 
City of Plymouth 
128 Smith St. - P.O. Box 107 
Plymouth, WI  53073-0107 
  
 

 
  
 

 
 
 

Telephone: (920) 893-3745 
Facsimile: (920) 893-0183 

     Web Site:        plymouthgov.com 
 
 

 
DATE:  June 18, 2025 

TO:  Mayor and Common Council 
 
FROM: Tim Blakeslee, City Administrator/Utilities Manager  
 
RE: Consideration and Possible Action on Resolution No. 8 Creating Tax Incremental 

District No. 8, Approving its Project Plan and Establishing its Boundaries 

Background: Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) is one of the 
most important tools available to Wisconsin municipalities to 
promote economic development and redevelopment. 
Through TIF, a municipality can use the increased property 
taxes generated within a designated Tax Incremental District 
(TID) to finance public improvements, property acquisition, 
and other eligible costs necessary to support development 
that would not otherwise occur. For a general overview of 
TIF, visit:https://www.ehlers-inc.com/wp-
content/uploads/2023/02/Wisconsin-TID-101-2023-REV-
2023-02-06-.pdf. Plymouth currently has three districts: TID 
#5, TID #6, and TID #7, which can be seen pictured to the 
right. 

The City is proposing the creation of TID #8, designated as a 
Rehabilitation District. This district will encompass the 
downtown Laack Block redevelopment area and adjacent 
properties. It is designed to support a mix of public 
improvements including a redesigned/rebuilt parking lot, 
infrastructure upgrades, property acquisition, legal and 
engineering services, financing, and adm inistrative costs. 
The TID#8 project plan is included as Attachment 1. Ehlers, 
the City’s Financial Advisors, will present the plan and 
answer questions at the meeting.   
 
The hotel and related improvements are projected to add 
approximately $6.5 million in new increment value to the 
district. As required by state law, the “but for” test has been 
applied, indicating that this development as presnted, 
including the parking lot improvements, would not occur 
without the support of TIF. Also on the agenda tonight is a 
development agreement with the Laack Block Team to 
ensure required new valuation to implement the project plan 
is created. The resolution creating Tax Incremental District 
No. 8 is included as Attachment 2. 
 
 

Proposed TID#8 

https://www.ehlers-inc.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/02/Wisconsin-TID-101-2023-REV-2023-02-06-.pdf
https://www.ehlers-inc.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/02/Wisconsin-TID-101-2023-REV-2023-02-06-.pdf
https://www.ehlers-inc.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/02/Wisconsin-TID-101-2023-REV-2023-02-06-.pdf


 
 
 
 
Strategic Plan Alignment: 
TID #8 advances key goals from the City’s 2023–2026 Strategic Plan: 

• Outcome: Expanded Economic Development 
• Outcome: TIF District Utilization Expanded 

 
Timeline: 
The Joint Review Board met the morning of June 5 to review the project plan and provide 
feedback prior to the Plan Commission’s formal public hearing and consideration. General 
consensus from the Joint Review Board was to move forward with the TID#8 creation process.  
 
The Plan Commission met the evening of June 5 to hold a public hearing and review resolution 
No. 1-2025-PC which recommended the Common Council establish the boundaries of TID#8 
and approve the project plan for TID#8. Several questions from residents were asked at the 
public hearing, no member of the public spoke against the creation of TID#8 at the hearing. The 
Plan Commission unanimously approved resolution No. 1-2025-PC. 
 
Subject to Common Council action tonight, the Joint Review Board is scheduled to reconvene 
on July 9, 2025 for final approval.   
 
Staff Recommendation: Approve Resolution No. 8 establishing the boundaries of and 
approving the project plan for Tax Incremental District No. 8. 

Attachments: 
• 1. Resolution No. 8 
• 2. TID#8 Project Plan  

 
 



 

 

 



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 3 

 



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 5 

 

 

 





Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 7 

  



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 8 

  



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 9 

  



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 10 

 

 

  



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 11 

  

Valuation Test Compliance Calculation

City of Plymouth, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 8



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 12 



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 13 

. 



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 14 



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 15 



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 16 



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 17 

• 

• 

 



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 18 

 

  



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 19 

  



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 20 

  







 

 

  

Project ID Project Name/Type 2026 Future Ongoing Totals 1/2 Mile

1 Parking Lot Resurfacing 1,450,000     1,450,000

2 Property Acquision 200,000         200,000

3 Developer ROW Investment 350,000         350,000

4 Stafford Street Infrastructure 50,000           50,000 50,000

5 Legal and Engineering 450,000         450,000

6 Stafford Street Bridge 250,000 250,000 250,000

7 Interest on Long Term Debt 1,206,876 1,206,876

8 Financing Costs 54,212 54,212

9 Ongoing Planning & Administrative Costs 170,000 170,000

Total Projects 2,554,212 250,000 1,376,876 4,181,088 300,000

Notes:

1. Stafford Street Bridge is shows as an eligible project cost, but not included in the cashflow model at this time.  

City of Plymouth, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 8

Detailed List of Estimated Project Costs

Est. Cost



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 24 

 

 

Annual Total

1 2025 0 2025 1

2 2026 3,500,000 3,500,000 2026 2

3 2027 3,000,000 3,000,000 2027 3

4 2028 0 2028 4

5 2029 0 2029 5

Totals 6,500,000 6,500,000

Construction 

Year

Construction 

Year

City of Plymouth, Wisconsin

Tax Increment District No. 8

Development Assumptions

Laack Block 

Hotel



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 25 

Type of District Base Value 4,085,300

District Creation Date Economic Change Factor 0.75%

Valuation Date Jan 1, 2025 Apply to Base Value

Max Life (Years) Base Tax Rate $14.97

Expenditure Period/Termination 22 6/24/2047 Rate Adjustment Factor -0.50%

Revenue Periods/Final Year 27 2053

Extension Eligibility/Years Yes 3

Eligible Recipient District

Construction 

Year Value Added

Valuation 

Year

Economic 

Change

Total 

Increment

Revenue 

Year Tax Rate1 Tax Increment

1 2025 0 2026 0 0 2027 $14.89 0

2 2026 3,500,000 2027 0 3,500,000 2028 $14.82 51,856

3 2027 3,000,000 2028 26,250 6,526,250 2029 $14.74 96,209

4 2028 0 2029 48,947 6,575,197 2030 $14.67 96,446

5 2029 0 2030 49,314 6,624,511 2031 $14.59 96,684

6 2030 0 2031 49,684 6,674,195 2032 $14.52 96,922

7 2031 0 2032 50,056 6,724,251 2033 $14.45 97,160

8 2032 0 2033 50,432 6,774,683 2034 $14.38 97,400

9 2033 0 2034 50,810 6,825,493 2035 $14.31 97,639

10 2034 0 2035 51,191 6,876,684 2036 $14.23 97,880

11 2035 0 2036 51,575 6,928,259 2037 $14.16 98,121

12 2036 0 2037 51,962 6,980,221 2038 $14.09 98,363

13 2037 0 2038 52,352 7,032,573 2039 $14.02 98,605

14 2038 0 2039 52,744 7,085,317 2040 $13.95 98,848

15 2039 0 2040 53,140 7,138,457 2041 $13.88 99,091

16 2040 0 2041 53,538 7,191,996 2042 $13.81 99,335

17 2041 0 2042 53,940 7,245,936 2043 $13.74 99,580

18 2042 0 2043 54,345 7,300,280 2044 $13.67 99,825

19 2043 0 2044 54,752 7,355,032 2045 $13.61 100,071

20 2044 0 2045 55,163 7,410,195 2046 $13.54 100,317

21 2045 0 2046 55,576 7,465,771 2047 $13.47 100,564

22 2046 0 2047 55,993 7,521,765 2048 $13.40 100,812

23 2047 0 2048 56,413 7,578,178 2049 $13.34 101,060

24 2048 0 2049 56,836 7,635,014 2050 $13.27 101,309

25 2049 0 2050 57,263 7,692,277 2051 $13.20 101,558

26 2050 0 2051 57,692 7,749,969 2052 $13.14 101,808

27 2051 0 2052 58,125 7,808,094 2053 $13.07 102,059

Totals 6,500,000 1,308,094 Future Value of Increment 2,529,520

Notes:

1) Tax rate shown is actual 2024/2025 rate per DOR Form PC-202 (Tax Increment Collection Worksheet).

Rehabilitation

June 24, 2025

27

Yes

City of Plymouth, Wisconsin

Tax Increment District No. 8

Tax Increment Projection Worksheet



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 26 

 

G.O. 

Promissory 

Note

2025

Projects

Parking Lot 2,150,000

Total Project Funds 2,150,000

Estimated Finance Related Expenses 54,212

Total Financing Required 2,204,212

Estimated Interest 4.39% (23,596)

Assumed spend down (months) 3

Rounding (616)

Net Issue Size 2,180,000

City of Plymouth, Wisconsin

Tax Increment District No. 8

Estimated Financing Plan

DEBT ISSUE



 

$2,180,000

Year Issue Total Year

2025 20,000 20,000 0 20,000 20,000 0 0 0 2025

2026 379,212 126,945 2,180,000 2,686,157 126,945 350,000 2,150,000 54,212 5,000 2,686,157 0 0 2,180,000 2026

2027 0 5,000 106,442 111,442 106,442 5,000 111,442 0 0 2,165,000 2027

2028 51,856 59,059 17,000 127,915 105,915 17,000 5,000 127,915 0 0 2,150,000 2028

2029 96,209 48,541 17,000 161,750 139,750 17,000 5,000 161,750 0 0 2,100,000 2029

2030 96,446 90,660 17,000 204,106 182,107 17,000 5,000 204,107 (1) (0) 2,005,000 2030

2031 96,684 91,825 17,000 205,509 183,509 17,000 5,000 205,509 0 (0) 1,905,000 2031

2032 96,922 87,852 17,000 201,774 179,774 17,000 5,000 201,774 0 (0) 1,805,000 2032

2033 97,160 88,728 185,888 180,888 5,000 185,888 0 0 1,700,000 2033

2034 97,400 89,332 186,732 181,732 5,000 186,732 (0) (0) 1,590,000 2034

2035 97,639 89,642 187,281 182,282 5,000 187,282 (0) (0) 1,475,000 2035

2036 97,880 89,654 187,534 182,534 5,000 187,534 0 0 1,355,000 2036

2037 98,121 89,371 187,492 182,492 5,000 187,492 0 0 1,230,000 2037

2038 98,363 88,786 187,149 182,149 5,000 187,149 0 0 1,100,000 2038

2039 98,605 87,885 186,490 181,490 5,000 186,490 0 0 965,000 2039

2040 98,848 86,638 185,486 180,487 5,000 185,487 (1) (0) 825,000 2040

2041 99,091 85,039 184,130 179,130 5,000 184,130 (0) (0) 680,000 2041

2042 99,335 88,007 187,342 182,341 5,000 187,341 1 0 525,000 2042

2043 99,580 85,555 185,135 180,135 5,000 185,135 (0) (0) 365,000 2043

2044 99,825 87,678 187,503 182,503 5,000 187,503 0 0 195,000 2044

2045 100,071 89,204 189,275 184,275 5,000 189,275 (0) (0) 15,000 2045

2046 100,317 100,317 0 95,317 5,000 100,317 0 (0) 1,756,843 2046

2047 100,564 100,564 0 95,564 5,000 100,564 0 0 1,661,279 2047

2048 100,812 100,812 0 95,812 5,000 100,812 (0) (0) 1,565,467 2048

2049 101,060 101,060 0 96,060 5,000 101,060 (0) (0) 1,469,407 2049

2050 101,309 101,309 0 96,309 5,000 101,309 (0) (0) 1,373,098 2050

2051 101,558 101,558 0 96,558 5,000 101,558 0 (0) 1,276,540 2051

2052 101,808 101,808 0 96,809 5,000 101,809 (1) (1) 1,179,731 2052

2053 102,059 102,059 0 87,059 15,000 102,059 0 (0) 1,092,672 2053

Totals 2,529,520 404,212 1,756,843 2,180,000 85,000 6,955,575 3,386,876 350,000 85,000 759,488 2,150,000 54,212 170,000 6,955,576 Totals 

Notes:

1. Stafford Street Bridge costs not currently accounted for in proposed cash flow

Annual Cumulative

2025 G.O. Promissory Note

City of Plymouth, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 8

Cash Flow Projection

Tax Levy 

Contribution

Transfer 

from Room 

Tax FundAdvances

Tax 

Increments

Debt 

Proceeds

Ongoing 

Planning & 

Administratio

Projected ExpendituresProjected Revenues

Total 

Revenues

Balances

Liabilities 

Outstanding

Developer 

Infrastructure

Repayment 

of Advances

Total 

Expenditures

Public 

Infrastructure

Development 

Incentives

Financing 

Costs



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 28 





Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 30 



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 31 

• 

• 

• 



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 32 



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 33 

 



Tax Incremental District No. 8 Project Plan  City of Plymouth 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 34 

Revenue 

Year

Sheboygan 

County

City of 

Plymouth

Plymouth 

School District

Lakeshore 

Technical Total

Revenue 

Year

2027 0 0 0 0 0 2027

2028 11,944 17,104 20,921 1,887 51,856 2028

2029 22,160 31,733 38,816 3,501 96,209 2029

2030 22,215 31,811 38,911 3,509 96,446 2030

2031 22,269 31,889 39,007 3,518 96,684 2031

2032 22,324 31,968 39,103 3,526 96,922 2032

2033 22,379 32,047 39,199 3,535 97,160 2033

2034 22,434 32,126 39,296 3,544 97,400 2034

2035 22,490 32,205 39,393 3,553 97,639 2035

2036 22,545 32,284 39,490 3,561 97,880 2036

2037 22,600 32,364 39,587 3,570 98,121 2037

2038 22,656 32,443 39,684 3,579 98,363 2038

2039 22,712 32,523 39,782 3,588 98,605 2039

2040 22,768 32,603 39,880 3,597 98,848 2040

2041 22,824 32,684 39,978 3,605 99,091 2041

2042 22,880 32,764 40,077 3,614 99,335 2042

2043 22,936 32,845 40,175 3,623 99,580 2043

2044 22,993 32,926 40,274 3,632 99,825 2044

2045 23,050 33,007 40,373 3,641 100,071 2045

2046 23,106 33,088 40,473 3,650 100,317 2046

2047 23,163 33,169 40,573 3,659 100,564 2047

2048 23,220 33,251 40,672 3,668 100,812 2048

2049 23,277 33,333 40,773 3,677 101,060 2049

2050 23,335 33,415 40,873 3,686 101,309 2050

2051 23,392 33,497 40,974 3,695 101,558 2051

2052 23,450 33,580 41,075 3,704 101,808 2052

2053 23,508 33,663 41,176 3,713 102,059 2053

Totals 582,631 834,320 1,020,533 92,035 2,529,520

Estimated portion of taxes that owners of taxable property in each taxing 

jurisdiction overlaying district would pay by jurisdiction.

City of Plymouth, Wisconsin

Tax Increment District No. 8



 
City of Plymouth, Wisconsin Tax Incremental District No. 8 Common Council Resolution 
 

   
RESOLUTION NO. 8 

 
RESOLUTION CREATING TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 8, 

APPROVING ITS PROJECT PLAN AND ESTABLISHING ITS BOUNDARIES  
CITY OF PLYMOUTH, WISCONSIN 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Plymouth (the “City”) has determined that use of Tax Incremental Financing 

is required to promote development and redevelopment within the City; and 
 

WHEREAS, Tax Incremental District No. 8 (the “District”) is proposed to be created by the City as 
a district in need of rehabilitation or conservation work in accordance with the provisions of Wisconsin 
Statutes Section 66.1105 (the "Tax Increment Law"); and 

 
WHEREAS, a Project Plan for the District has been prepared that includes: 

 
a. A statement listing of the kind, number and location of all proposed public works or 

improvements within the District, or to the extent provided in Wisconsin Statutes Sections 
66.1105(2)(f)1.k. and 66.1105(2)(f)1.n., outside of the District; 

b. An economic feasibility study; 
c. A detailed list of estimated project costs; 
d. A description of the methods of financing all estimated project costs and the time when the 

related costs or monetary obligations are to be incurred; 
e. A map showing existing uses and conditions of real property in the District; 
f. A map showing proposed improvements and uses in the District; 
g. Proposed changes of zoning ordinances, master plan, map, building codes and City 

ordinances; 
h. A list of estimated non-project costs; 
i. A statement of the proposed plan for relocation of any persons to be displaced; 
j. A statement indicating how the District promotes the orderly development of the City; 
k. An opinion of the City Attorney or of an attorney retained by the City advising that the plan is 

complete and complies with Wisconsin Statutes Section 66.1105(4)(f).; and 
 

WHEREAS, prior to its publication, a copy of the notice of public hearing was sent to the chief 
executive officers of Sheboygan County, the School District of Plymouth Joint, and the Lakeshore Technical 
College District, and any other entities having the power to levy taxes on property located within the 
District, in accordance with the procedures specified in the Tax Increment Law; and 

 
WHEREAS, prior to its publication, a copy of the notice of public hearing was also sent to the to 

owners of all property in the proposed District; and 
 
WHEREAS, in accordance with the procedures specified in the Tax Increment Law, the Plan 

Commission, on June 5, 2025 held a public hearing concerning the project plan and boundaries and 
proposed creation of the District, providing interested parties a reasonable opportunity to express their 
views thereon; and 

 
WHEREAS, after said public hearing, the Plan Commission designated the boundaries of the 

District, adopted the Project Plan, and recommended to the Common Council that it create such District 
and approve the Project Plan. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Common Council of the City of Plymouth that: 



 
City of Plymouth, Wisconsin Tax Incremental District No. 8 Common Council Resolution 
 

 
1. The boundaries of the District that shall be named "Tax Incremental District No. 8, City of 

Plymouth", are hereby established as specified in Exhibit A of this Resolution. 
 
2. The District is created effective as of January 1, 2025. 
 
3. The Common Council finds and declares that: 

 
(a) Not less than 50% by area of the real property within the District is in need of 

rehabilitation or conservation work within the meaning of Wisconsin Statutes Section 
66.1337(2m)(a). 

 
(b) Based upon the finding stated in 3.a. above, the District is declared to be a district in 

need of rehabilitation or conservation work based on the identification and 
classification of the property included within the District. 

 
(c) The improvement of such area is likely to enhance significantly the value of 

substantially all of the other real property in the District. 
 

(d) The equalized value of the taxable property in the District plus the value increment 
of all other existing tax incremental districts within the City, does not exceed 12% of 
the total equalized value of taxable property within the City. 
 

(e) That there are no parcels to be included within the District that were annexed by the 
City within the preceding three-year period. 

 
(f) The City estimates that less than 35% of the territory within the District will be 

devoted to retail business at the end of the District’s maximum expenditure period, 
pursuant to Wisconsin Statutes Section 66.1105(5)(b).  

 
(g)The project costs relate directly to promoting the rehabilitation or conservation of the 

area consistent with the purpose for which the District is created. 
 

4. The Project Plan for "Tax Incremental District No. 8, City of Plymouth" (see Exhibit B) is 
approved, and the City further finds the Plan is feasible and in conformity with the master 
plan of the City. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT the City Clerk is hereby authorized and directed to apply to the 

Wisconsin Department of Revenue, in such form as may be prescribed, for a "Determination of Tax 
Incremental Base", as of January 1, 2025, pursuant to the provisions of Wisconsin Statutes Section 
66.1105(5)(b). 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT pursuant to Section 66.1105(5)(f) of the Wisconsin Statutes that 
the City Assessor is hereby authorized and directed to identify upon the assessment roll returned and 
examined under Wisconsin Statutes Section 70.45, those parcels of property which are within the District, 
specifying thereon the name of the said District, and the City Clerk is hereby authorized and directed to 
make similar notations on the tax roll made under Section 70.65 of the Wisconsin Statutes. 
 
 
Adopted this _________ day of _______________, 2025. 
 



 
City of Plymouth, Wisconsin Tax Incremental District No. 8 Common Council Resolution 
 

 
      
Mayor 
 
 
 
      
City Clerk 
 



 
 

 
EXHIBIT A - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

LEGAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION  
OR  

MAP OF  
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 8  

CITY OF PLYMOUTH 
 
 
 
 
 

[INCLUDED WITHIN PROJECT PLAN] 



 
 

EXHIBIT B - 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PROJECT PLAN 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

[DISTRIBUTED SEPARATELY] 



 

We are here 

 
 
 
City of Plymouth 
128 Smith St. - P.O. Box 107 
Plymouth, WI  53073-0107 
  
 

 
  
 

 
 
 

Telephone: (920) 893-1271 
Facsimile: (920) 893-0183 

     Web Site:        plymouthgov.com 
 
 

 
DATE:  June 20, 2025 

TO:  Mayor and Common Council  

FROM: Tim Blakeslee, City Administrator/Utilities Manager  

RE: Approval of Resolution No 9. Authorizing the Issuance and Sale of not to Exceed 
$6,990,000 General Obligation Promissory Notes, Series 2025A 

 
Background: As part of the 2025 Capital Improvement Plan, the City intends to issue debt for 
the Mill Pond Dam, Collins Street Reconstruction, and the Electric Storage Building. Additionally, 
the 2026 West Stafford Street Parking Lot project has been included to facilitate timely completion 
by November 1, 2026, as portions of this project will commence this year. 
 
Due to the complexities involved in municipal debt issuance, the City approved an agreement in 
December with our financial advisor, Ehlers, to provide necessary support. Ehlers' expertise will 
ensure the City secures favorable interest rates. 

 
 
Ehlers' expertise will ensure the City secures the necessary debt while achieving the most 
favorable interest rates. The proposed schedule is as follows: 

Develop 
Financing 

Plan

Draft 
Financing 

Documents

Obtain 
Governing 

Body 
Approvals

Seek Credit 
Rating

Market & 
Sell Bonds

Coordinate 
Bond 

Closing

Fulfill Post-
Issuance 

Obligations



 
Ehlers has prepared and will present a presale report at the Common Council meeting tonight.  
The full report is included as Attachment 1. 
 
As previously communicated, the Series 2025A issuance aligns with our strategic plan to finance 
key projects over the next three years. Important considerations include: 

• The City's current debt limit usage is only 6%, leaving 94% of capacity available as of 
2024.  

• Due to the successful closure of TID #4, the City will gain a levy limit adjustment of 
approximately $350,000 without increasing the taxpayer burden. This closure will also 
influence the mill rate in 2026, as only half of the closure’s impact is usable for levy limit 
adjustments.  

• Staff recommends leveraging the TID closure levy adjustment and claiming abated debt 
to support capital projects within the 2025 assessed mill rate.  

• The presale report contains preliminary debt schedules and estimated issuance amounts, 
though this will be finalized as the sale completes.  

• The presale report indicates the tax impact per household specific to this financing plan 
only; it does not predict the overall tax rate for 2026. The objective remains a minimal 
overall tax levy increase tied to long-term capital projects, with exact details to be finalized 
during the 2026 budget preparations.  

• Initiating the funding process now positions the City advantageously for these critical 
projects. 

 
Recommendation: 
Approval of Resolution No 9. Authorizing the Issuance and Sale of not to Exceed $6,990,000 
General Obligation Promissory Notes, Series 2025A 
 
Attachment: 

• Attachment 1 – Presale Report Series 2025A 
• Attachment 2 – Resolution No. 9 

 



RESOLUTION NO. 9 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE AND  
SALE OF NOT TO EXCEED $6,990,000 

GENERAL OBLIGATION PROMISSORY NOTES, SERIES 2025A 

WHEREAS, it is necessary that funds be raised by the City of Plymouth, Sheboygan 
County, Wisconsin (the “City”) for the purpose of paying the costs of the City’s capital 
improvements program including Mill Pond Dam, road, utility and electric storage building 
improvements and Tax Incremental District No. 8 project costs (the “Project”) and there are 
insufficient funds on hand to pay said costs; 

WHEREAS, the City hereby finds and determines that the Project is within the City’s 
power to undertake and serves a “public purpose” as that term is defined in Section 67.04(1)(b) 
of the Wisconsin Statutes;  

WHEREAS, Cities are authorized by the provisions of Section 67.12(12) of the 
Wisconsin Statutes to borrow money and to issue general obligation promissory notes for such 
public purposes; and 

WHEREAS, the City Administrator (in consultation with the City’s financial advisor) 
shall cause an Official Notice of Sale to be distributed, offering the aforesaid general obligation 
promissory notes for public sale. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Common Council of the City that: 

Section 1.  Authorization of the Notes; Parameters.  For the purpose of paying the cost of 
the Project, there shall be borrowed from a purchaser (the “Purchaser”) selected through a 
competitive sale with the assistance and counsel of the City’s financial advisor, Ehlers and 
Associates, Inc., pursuant to Chapter 67 of the Wisconsin Statutes, the principal sum of not to 
exceed SIX MILLION NINE HUNDRED NINETY THOUSAND DOLLARS ($6,990,000), 
provided that: (i) the price paid by the Purchaser for the Notes shall not be less than 98.75% nor 
more than 107.00% of the par amount of the Notes, (ii) the true interest rate to be paid on the 
Notes shall not exceed 5.50%;  and (iii) the Notes shall comply in all other respects with the 
terms provided herein. 

Section 2.  Sale of the Notes; Delegation of Authority with Respect to Final Approval.  
Subject to such Final Approval (defined below), to evidence such indebtedness, the Mayor and 
City Clerk are hereby authorized, empowered and directed to make, execute, issue and sell to the 
Purchaser for, on behalf of and in the name of the City, general obligation promissory notes 
aggregating the principal amount of not to exceed SIX MILLION NINE HUNDRED NINETY 
THOUSAND DOLLARS ($6,990,000) (the “Notes”). The issuance and sale of the Notes to the 
Purchaser is subject to final approval by the City Administrator or City Clerk.  Such final 
approval shall be evidenced by the execution of an approving certificate (the approval of such 
issuance and sale, and the execution of said certificate shall comprise and are referred to 



2 

collectively herein as the “Final Approval”). The Common Council hereby delegates the 
authority to provide such Final Approval to the City Administrator or City Clerk. Said officers 
may act for the Common Council to provide such Final Approval with respect to the Notes. 
 

Section 3.  Terms of the Notes.  The Notes shall be designated “General Obligation 
Promissory Notes, Series 2025A”; shall be dated the date of their issuance; shall be in the 
denomination of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof; shall bear interest semi-annually and 
mature on May 1 of each year, in the years and principal amounts as set forth in the Schedule 
attached hereto as Exhibit A,  provided, however, that the annual principal maturities set forth on 
said Schedule may be increased or decreased by an amount up to $150,000 with the final 
maturity schedule being attached to and incorporated into the Final Approval. The maturity 
schedule for the Notes may include term bonds.  All term bonds shall be subject to mandatory 
sinking fund redemption at a price of par plus accrued interest to the date of redemption and 
must conform to the maturity schedule requirements set forth above.  

Section 4.  Designation of Purchaser as Agent.  The City hereby designates the Purchaser 
as its agent for purposes of distributing the Final Official Statement relating to the Notes to any 
participating underwriter in compliance with Rule 15c2-12 of the Securities and Exchange 
Commission. 

Section 5.  Redemption Provisions.  The redemption provisions relating to the Notes shall 
be set forth in the Final Approval. 

Section 6.  Form of the Notes.  The Notes shall be issued in registered form and shall be 
executed and delivered in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit B and incorporated 
herein by this reference. 

Section 7.  Direct Annual Irrepealable Tax Levy.  For the purpose of paying the principal 
of and interest on the Notes as the same becomes due, the full faith, credit and resources of the 
City are hereby irrevocably pledged and a direct annual irrepealable tax is hereby levied upon all 
taxable property of the City. The amounts of said direct annual irrepealable tax to be levied shall 
be as set forth in the amortization schedule attached to the Final Approval. 

The aforesaid direct annual irrepealable tax hereby levied shall be collected in addition to 
all other taxes and in the same manner and at the same time as other taxes of the City levied in 
said years are collected.  So long as any part of the principal of or interest on the Notes remains 
unpaid, the tax herein above levied shall be and continues irrepealable except that the amount of 
tax carried onto the tax roll may be reduced in any year by the amount of any surplus in the Debt 
Service Fund Account created herein, including any capitalized interest funded with proceeds of 
the Notes.  

Section 8.  Debt Service Fund Account.  There is hereby established in the City treasury a 
fund account separate and distinct from every other City fund or account designated “Debt 
Service Fund Account for City of Plymouth General Obligation Promissory Notes, Series 
2025A.”  There shall be deposited in said fund account any premium plus accrued interest paid 
on the Notes at the time of delivery to the Purchaser, all money raised by taxation pursuant to 
Section 7 hereof and all other sums as may be necessary to pay interest on the Notes when the 
same shall become due and to retire the Notes at their respective maturity dates.  Said fund 



3 

account shall be used for the sole purpose of paying the principal of and interest on the Notes and 
shall be maintained for such purpose until such indebtedness is fully paid or otherwise 
extinguished. 

Section 9.  Segregated Borrowed Money Fund. The proceeds of the Notes (the “Note 
Proceeds”) (other than any premium and accrued interest which must be paid at the time of the 
delivery of the Notes into the Debt Service Fund Account created above) shall be deposited into 
an account separate and distinct from all other funds and be disbursed solely for the purposes for 
which borrowed or for the payment for the principal of and the interest on the Notes. 

Section 10.  Arbitrage Covenant.  The City shall not take any action with respect to the 
Note Proceeds which, if such action had been reasonably expected to have been taken, or had 
been deliberately and intentionally taken on the date of the delivery of and payment for the Notes 
(the “Closing”), would cause the Notes to be “arbitrage bonds” within the meaning of Section 
148 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) and any income tax 
regulations promulgated thereunder (the “Regulations”). 

The Note Proceeds may be temporarily invested in legal investments until needed, 
provided however, that the City hereby covenants and agrees that so long as the Notes remain 
outstanding, moneys on deposit in any fund or account created or maintained in connection with 
the Notes, whether such moneys were derived from the Note Proceeds or from any other source, 
will not be used or invested in a manner which would cause the Notes to be “arbitrage bonds” 
within the meaning of the Code or Regulations. 

The City Clerk, or other officer of the City charged with responsibility for issuing the 
Notes, shall provide an appropriate certificate of the City, for inclusion in the transcript of 
proceedings, setting forth the reasonable expectations of the City regarding the amount and use 
of the Note Proceeds and the facts and estimates on which such expectations are based, all as of 
the Closing. 

Section 11.  Additional Tax Covenants; Exemption from Rebate; Qualified Tax-Exempt 
Obligation Status.  The City hereby further covenants and agrees that it will take all necessary 
steps and perform all obligations required by the Code and Regulations (whether prior to or 
subsequent to the issuance of the Notes) to assure that the Notes are obligations described in 
Section 103(a) of the Code, the interest on which is excluded from gross income for federal 
income tax purposes, throughout their term.  The City Clerk or other officer of the City charged 
with the responsibility of issuing the Notes, shall provide an appropriate certificate of the City as 
of the Closing, for inclusion in the transcript of proceedings, certifying that it can and 
covenanting that it will comply with the provisions of the Code and Regulations. 

Further, it is the intent of the City to take all reasonable and lawful actions to comply 
with any new tax laws enacted so that the Notes will continue to be obligations described in 
Section 103(a) of the Code, the interest on which is excluded from gross income for federal 
income tax purposes. 

The City anticipates that the Notes will qualify for the construction expenditure 
exemption from the rebate requirements of the Code.  The City Clerk or other officer of the City 



4 

charged with the responsibility of issuing the Notes, shall provide an appropriate certificate of 
the City as of the Closing, for inclusion in the transcript of proceedings, with respect to said 
exemption from the rebate requirements, and said City Clerk or other officer is hereby authorized 
to make any election on behalf of the City in order to comply with the rebate requirements of the 
Code.  If, for any reason, the City did not qualify for any exemption from the rebate requirements 
of the Code, the City covenants that it would take all necessary steps to comply with such 
requirements. 

The City hereby designates the Notes to be “qualified tax-exempt obligations” pursuant 
to the provisions of Section 265(b)(3) of the Code and in support of such designation, the City 
Clerk or other officer of the City charged with the responsibility for issuing the Notes, shall 
provide an appropriate certificate of the City, all as of the Closing. 

Section 12.  Persons Treated as Owners; Transfer of Notes.  The fiscal agent appointed in 
Section 15 hereof shall keep books for the registration and for the transfer of the Notes.  The 
person in whose name any Note shall be registered shall be deemed and regarded as the absolute 
owner thereof for all purposes and payment of either principal or interest on any Note shall be 
made only to the registered owner thereof.  All such payments shall be valid and effectual to 
satisfy and discharge the liability upon such Note to the extent of the sum or sums so paid. 

Any Note may be transferred by the registered owner thereof by surrender of the Note at 
the office of said fiscal agent, duly endorsed for the transfer or accompanied by an assignment 
duly executed by the registered owner or his attorney duly authorized in writing.  Upon such 
transfer, said fiscal agent shall execute and deliver in the name of the transferee or transferees a 
new Note or Notes of a like aggregate principal amount, series and maturity and said fiscal agent 
shall record the name of each transferee in the registration book.  No registration shall be made 
to bearer.  Said fiscal agent shall cancel any Note surrendered for transfer. 

The City shall cooperate in any such transfer, and the Mayor and City Clerk are 
authorized to execute any new Note or Notes necessary to effect any such transfer. 

The 15th day of each calendar month next preceding each interest payment date shall be 
the record date for the Notes.  Payment of interest on the Notes on any interest payment date 
shall be made to the registered owners of the Notes as they appear on the registration book of the 
City maintained by said fiscal agent at the close of business on the corresponding record date. 

Section 13.  Utilization of The Depository Trust Company Book-Entry-Only-System.  In 
order to make the Notes eligible for the services provided by The Depository Trust Company, 
New York, New York (“DTC”), the City has heretofore agreed to the applicable provisions set 
forth in the DTC Blanket Issuer Letter of Representation and an official of the City has executed 
such Letter of Representation and delivered it to the DTC on behalf of the City. 

Section 14.  Execution of the Notes.  The Notes shall be issued in typewritten form, one 
Note for each maturity, executed on behalf of the City by the manual or facsimile signatures of 
the Mayor and City Clerk (except that one of the foregoing signatures shall be manual), sealed 
with its official or corporate seal, if any, and delivered to the Purchaser upon payment to the City 
of the purchase price thereof, plus accrued interest to the date of delivery.  In the event that either 



5 

of the officers whose signatures appear on the Notes shall cease to be such officers before the 
delivery of the Notes, such signatures shall, nevertheless, be valid and sufficient for all purposes 
to the same extent as if they had remained in office until such delivery. The aforesaid officers are 
hereby authorized to do all acts and execute and deliver all documents as may be necessary and 
convenient to effectuate the Closing. 

Section 15.  Payment of the Notes.  The principal of and interest on the Notes shall be 
paid by Bond Trust Services Corporation, Minneapolis, Minnesota, which is hereby appointed as 
the City’s registrar and fiscal agent pursuant to the provisions of Section 67.10(2), Wisconsin 
Statutes (the “Fiscal Agent”).  The Fiscal Agency Agreement between the City and the Fiscal 
Agent shall be substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C and incorporated herein by 
this reference. 

Section 16.  Continuing Disclosure.  The City hereby covenants and agrees that it will 
comply with and carry out all of the provisions of its Continuing Disclosure Certificate, which 
the City will execute and deliver on the Closing Date.  Any Noteholder may take such actions as 
may be necessary and appropriate, including seeking mandate or specific performance by court 
order, to cause the City to comply with its obligations under this Section. 

Section 17.  Conflicting Resolutions; Severability; Effective Date.  All prior resolutions, 
rules or other actions of the City or any parts thereof in conflict with the provisions hereof shall 
be, and the same are, hereby rescinded insofar as the same may so conflict.  In the event that any 
one or more provisions hereof shall for any reason be held to be illegal or invalid, such illegality 
or invalidity shall not affect any other provisions hereof.  The foregoing shall take effect 
immediately upon adoption and approval in the manner provided by law. 

Adopted this 24th day of June, 2025. 

 
 
  
Donald Pohlman, 
Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 
       
Anna Voigt, 
City Clerk 

 



 

City of Plymouth, WI 
$6,990,000 General Obligation Promissory Notes 
Issue Summary 
Dated: August 13, 2025 

Debt Service Schedule 

Date Principal Coupon Interest Total P+I Fiscal Total

08/13/2025 - - - - -
05/01/2026 210,000.00 3.450% 201,946.99 411,946.99 -
11/01/2026 - - 137,270.75 137,270.75 549,217.74
05/01/2027 275,000.00 3.500% 137,270.75 412,270.75 -
11/01/2027 - - 132,458.25 132,458.25 544,729.00
05/01/2028 475,000.00 3.530% 132,458.25 607,458.25 -
11/01/2028 - - 124,074.50 124,074.50 731,532.75
05/01/2029 465,000.00 3.600% 124,074.50 589,074.50 -
11/01/2029 - - 115,704.50 115,704.50 704,779.00
05/01/2030 505,000.00 3.670% 115,704.50 620,704.50 -
11/01/2030 - - 106,437.75 106,437.75 727,142.25
05/01/2031 410,000.00 3.710% 106,437.75 516,437.75 -
11/01/2031 - - 98,832.25 98,832.25 615,270.00
05/01/2032 415,000.00 3.760% 98,832.25 513,832.25 -
11/01/2032 - - 91,030.25 91,030.25 604,862.50
05/01/2033 425,000.00 3.820% 91,030.25 516,030.25 -
11/01/2033 - - 82,912.75 82,912.75 598,943.00
05/01/2034 380,000.00 3.910% 82,912.75 462,912.75 -
11/01/2034 - - 75,483.75 75,483.75 538,396.50
05/01/2035 370,000.00 4.000% 75,483.75 445,483.75 -
11/01/2035 - - 68,083.75 68,083.75 513,567.50
05/01/2036 255,000.00 4.080% 68,083.75 323,083.75 -
11/01/2036 - - 62,881.75 62,881.75 385,965.50
05/01/2037 260,000.00 4.150% 62,881.75 322,881.75 -
11/01/2037 - - 57,486.75 57,486.75 380,368.50
05/01/2038 270,000.00 4.230% 57,486.75 327,486.75 -
11/01/2038 - - 51,776.25 51,776.25 379,263.00
05/01/2039 285,000.00 4.310% 51,776.25 336,776.25 -
11/01/2039 - - 45,634.50 45,634.50 382,410.75
05/01/2040 295,000.00 4.420% 45,634.50 340,634.50 -
11/01/2040 - - 39,115.00 39,115.00 379,749.50
05/01/2041 310,000.00 4.500% 39,115.00 349,115.00 -
11/01/2041 - - 32,140.00 32,140.00 381,255.00
05/01/2042 325,000.00 4.550% 32,140.00 357,140.00 -
11/01/2042 - - 24,746.25 24,746.25 381,886.25
05/01/2043 335,000.00 4.600% 24,746.25 359,746.25 -
11/01/2043 - - 17,041.25 17,041.25 376,787.50
05/01/2044 355,000.00 4.650% 17,041.25 372,041.25 -
11/01/2044 - - 8,787.50 8,787.50 380,828.75
05/01/2045 370,000.00 4.750% 8,787.50 378,787.50 -
11/01/2045 - - - - 378,787.50

Total $6,990,000.00 - $2,945,742.49 $9,935,742.49 -

Yield Statistics 
 
Bond Year Dollars $68,984.50
Average Life 9.869 Years
Average Coupon 4.2701513%
 
Net Interest Cost (NIC) 4.3968101%
True Interest Cost (TIC) 4.3967634%
Bond Yield for Arbitrage Purposes 4.2311070%
All Inclusive Cost (AIC) 4.5638655%
 
IRS Form 8038 
Net Interest Cost 4.2701513%
Weighted Average Maturity 9.869 Years

prop 2025A $7185m GO Note  |  Issue Summary  |  5/19/2025  |  12:20 PM  
  

EXHIBIT A



EXHIBIT B 

(Form of Note) 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
REGISTERED STATE OF WISCONSIN 
NO. R-__ SHEBOYGAN COUNTY 

CITY OF PLYMOUTH 
GENERAL OBLIGATION PROMISSORY NOTE, SERIES 2025A 

 
MATURITY DATE: ORIGINAL DATE OF ISSUE: INTEREST 

RATE: 
CUSIP: 

MAY 1, 20__ AUGUST 13, 2025 _.___% 730111___ 

 
DEPOSITORY OR ITS NOMINEE NAME:  CEDE & CO. 

PRINCIPAL AMOUNT:                                           DOLLARS 
($     ) 

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that the City of Plymouth, Sheboygan 
County, Wisconsin (the “City”), hereby acknowledges itself to owe and for value received 
promises to pay to the Depository or its Nominee Name (the “Depository”) identified above (or 
to registered assigns), on the maturity date identified above, the principal amount identified 
above, and to pay interest thereon at the rate of interest per annum identified above, all subject to 
the provisions set forth herein regarding redemption prior to maturity.  Interest is payable semi-
annually on May 1 and November 1 of each year commencing May 1, 2026 until the aforesaid 
principal amount is paid in full.  Both the principal of and interest on this Note are payable in 
lawful money of the United States by Bond Trust Services Corporation, Minneapolis, Minnesota, 
the fiscal agent appointed by the City pursuant to the provisions of Section 67.10(2), Wisconsin 
Statutes, to act as bond registrar and paying agent (the “Bond Registrar”).  The principal of this 
Note shall be payable only upon presentation and surrender of the Note at the office of the Bond 
Registrar.  Interest payable on any interest payment date shall be paid by wire transfer to the 
Depository in whose name this Note is registered on the Bond Register maintained by the Bond 
Registrar at the close of business on the 15th day of the calendar month next preceding the 
semi-annual interest payment date (the “Record Date”). 

For the prompt payment of this Note together with interest hereon as aforesaid and for the 
levy of taxes sufficient for that purpose, the full faith, credit and resources of the City are hereby 
irrevocably pledged. 

This Note is one of an issue of Notes aggregating the principal amount of $6,990,000, all 
of which are of like tenor, except as to denomination, interest rate, maturity date and redemption 
provision, issued by the City pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 67, Wisconsin Statutes, for 
the purpose of paying the costs of the City’s capital improvements program including Mill Pond 
Dam, road, utility and electric storage building improvements and Tax Incremental District No. 8 



2 

project costs, all as authorized by a resolution of the Common Council duly adopted by said 
governing body at a meeting held on June 24, 2025.  Said resolution is recorded in the official 
minutes of the Common Council for said date. 

At the option of the City, the Notes maturing on May 1, 20__ and thereafter are subject to 
redemption prior to maturity on May 1, 20__ or on any date thereafter.  Said Notes are 
redeemable as a whole or in part, by lot (as selected by the Depository), at the principal amount 
thereof, plus accrued interest to the date of redemption. 

In the event the Notes are redeemed prior to maturity, as long as the Notes are in book-
entry-only form, official notice of the redemption will be given by mailing a notice by registered 
or certified mail, or overnight express delivery, to the Depository not less than thirty (30) days 
nor more than sixty (60) days prior to the redemption date.  If less than all the Notes of a 
maturity are to be called for redemption, the Notes of such maturity to be redeemed will be 
selected by lot.  Such notice will include but not be limited to the following:  the designation, 
date and maturities of the Notes called for redemption, CUSIP numbers, and the date of 
redemption.  Any notice mailed as provided herein shall be conclusively presumed to have been 
duly given, whether or not the Depository receives the notice.  The Notes shall cease to bear 
interest on the specified redemption date, provided that federal or other immediately available 
funds sufficient for such redemption are on deposit at the office of the Depository at that time.  
Upon such deposit of funds for redemption the Notes shall no longer be deemed to be 
outstanding. 

It is hereby certified and recited that all conditions, things and acts required by law to 
exist or to be done prior to and in connection with the issuance of this Note have been done, have 
existed and have been performed in due form and time; that the aggregate indebtedness of the 
City, including this Note and others issued simultaneously herewith, does not exceed any 
limitation imposed by law or the Constitution of the State of Wisconsin; and that a direct annual 
irrepealable tax has been levied sufficient to pay this Note, together with the interest thereon, 
when and as payable.  It is hereby further certified that the City has designated this Note to be a 
“qualified tax-exempt obligation” pursuant to the provisions of Section 265(b)(3) of the Internal 
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. 

This Note is transferable only upon the books of the City kept for that purpose at the 
office of the Bond Registrar.  In the event that the Depository does not continue to act as 
depository for the Notes, and the Common Council appoints another depository, new fully 
registered Notes in the same aggregate principal amount shall be issued to the new depository 
upon surrender of the Notes to the Bond Registrar, in exchange therefor and upon the payment of 
a charge sufficient to reimburse the City for any tax, fee or other governmental charge required 
to be paid with respect to such registration.  The Bond Registrar shall not be obliged to make any 
transfer of the Notes (i) after the Record Date, (ii) during the fifteen (15) calendar days preceding 
the date of any publication of notice of any proposed redemption of the Notes, or (iii) with 
respect to any particular Note, after such Note has been called for redemption.  The City and the 
Bond Registrar may treat and consider the Depository in whose name this Note is registered as 
the absolute owner hereof for the purpose of receiving payment of, or on account of, the 
principal or redemption price hereof and interest due hereon and for all other purposes 
whatsoever. 



3 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City of Plymouth, Sheboygan County, Wisconsin, by its 
governing body, has caused this Note to be executed for it and in its name by the signatures of its 
duly qualified Mayor and City Clerk; and to be sealed with its official or corporate seal, if any, 
all as of the 13th day of August, 2025. 

By:        
Donald Pohlman, 
Mayor 

(SEAL) 

By:        
Anna Voigt, 
City Clerk 



4 

ASSIGNMENT 
 
              

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned sells, assigns and transfers unto 
 
              

(Name and Address of Assignee) 
 

              
(Social Security or other Identifying Number of Assignee) 

 
the within Note and all rights thereunder and hereby irrevocably constitutes and appoints 
   , Legal Representative, to transfer said Note on the books kept for 
registration thereof, with full power of substitution in the premises. 

Dated:      

Signature Guaranteed: 

              
(e.g. Bank, Trust Company    (Depository or its Nominee 
or Securities Firm)     Name) 

      
(Authorized Officer)    NOTICE:  The above-named 

Depository or its Nominee Name must 
correspond with the name as it appears upon 
the face of the within Note in every 
particular, without alteration or enlargement 
or any change whatever. 



EXHIBIT C 

FISCAL AGENCY AGREEMENT 

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into the __ day of August, 2025, by and 
between the City of Plymouth, Sheboygan County, Wisconsin (the “City”), and Bond Trust 
Services Corporation, Minneapolis, Minnesota (the “Agent”). 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, the City has authorized the borrowing of the sum of SIX MILLION NINE 
HUNDRED NINETY THOUSAND DOLLARS ($6,990,000) pursuant to Section 67.12(12), 
Wisconsin Statutes, and a resolution adopted by the Common Council on June 24, 2025 and has 
authorized the issuance and sale of $6,990,000 principal amount of general obligation 
promissory notes to evidence such indebtedness (the “Obligations”).  The Obligations shall be 
designated “General Obligation Promissory Notes, Series 2025A”; shall be dated August 13, 
2025; shall bear interest and shall mature on May 1 of each year, in the years and principal 
amounts as set forth on Exhibit A attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference. 
Interest shall be payable on May 1 and August 1 of each year commencing on May 1, 2026 until 
the principal of the Obligations is paid in full or discharged; 

 
            WHEREAS, the City is issuing the Obligations in registered form pursuant to 
Section 149 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and any applicable income tax 
regulations; and, 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the aforesaid resolution or resolutions and Section 67.10(2), 
Wisconsin Statutes, the Common Council of the City has authorized the appointment of the 
Agent as Fiscal Agent of the City for the purpose of performing any or all of the following 
functions with respect to the Obligations:  paying the principal of and interest on the Obligations; 
accounting for such payments; registering, authenticating, transferring, and canceling the 
Obligations; and maintaining a registration book in addition to other applicable responsibilities 
all in accordance with the provisions of Section 67.10(2), Wisconsin Statutes. 

NOW, THEREFORE, the City and the Agent do hereby agree as follows: 

I.  APPOINTMENT 

The Agent is hereby appointed Fiscal Agent of the City with respect to the Obligations 
for the purpose of performing such of the responsibilities stated in Section 67.10(2)(a), 
Wisconsin Statutes, as are delegated herein or as may be otherwise specifically delegated in 
writing to the Fiscal Agent by the City. 

II.  INVESTMENT RESPONSIBILITY 

The Fiscal Agent shall not be under any obligation to invest funds held for the payment 
of interest or principal on the Obligations. 



 
2 

III.  PAYMENTS 

At least one (1) business day before each semi-annual interest payment date 
(commencing with the first interest payment date and continuing thereafter until the principal of 
and interest on the Obligations should have been fully paid or prepaid in accordance with their 
terms) the City agrees to and shall pay to the Fiscal Agent, in immediately available funds, a sum 
equal to the amount payable as principal of and the premium, if any, and interest on the 
Obligations on such semi-annual interest payment date.  Said semi-annual interest and/or 
principal payment dates and amounts are set forth in Exhibit A which is attached hereto and 
incorporated herein by this reference. 

IV.  CANCELLATION 

In every case of the surrender of any Obligation for the purpose of payment, the Fiscal 
Agent shall cancel and destroy the same and deliver to the City a certificate regarding such 
cancellation, setting forth an accurate description of the Obligation, specifying its number, date, 
purpose, amount, rate of interest, and payment date and stating the date and amount of each 
payment of principal or interest thereon.  The Fiscal Agent shall also cancel and destroy 
Obligations presented for transfer or exchange and deliver a certificate with respect to such 
transfer or exchange to the City.  The Fiscal Agent shall be permitted to microfilm, or otherwise 
photocopy and record said canceled Obligations. 

V.  REGISTRATION BOOK 

Fiscal Agent shall maintain in the name of the City a Registration Book containing the 
names and addresses of all registered owners of the Obligations.  The Fiscal Agent shall keep 
confidential said information in accordance with applicable banking and governmental 
regulations. 

VI.  INTEREST PAYMENT 

Payment of each installment of interest shall be made to the registered owner who shall 
appear on the Registration Book at the close of business on the 15th day of the calendar month 
next preceding the interest payment date and shall be paid by check or draft of the Fiscal Agent 
mailed to such registered owner at his address as it appears in such Registration Book or at such 
other address as may be furnished in writing by such registered owner to the Fiscal Agent. 

VII.  PAYMENT OF PRINCIPAL 

Principal shall be paid to the registered owner of an Obligation upon surrender of the 
Obligation on or after its maturity or redemption date. 

VIII.  REDEMPTION NOTICE 

In the event the City exercises its option, if any, to redeem any of the Obligations, the 
City shall direct the Fiscal Agent to give notice of such redemption by registered or certified mail 
at least thirty days prior to the date fixed for redemption to the registered owner of each 
Obligation to be redeemed in whole or in part at the address shown in the Registration Book.  
Such direction shall be given at least thirty-five days prior to such redemption date. 



 
3 

In addition, in accordance with the recommendations of the Securities and Exchange 
Commission, the Fiscal Agent shall give notice of any call for redemption to all registered 
securities depositories and to a national information service that disseminates notices of 
redemption of such Obligations, but neither a defect in this additional notice nor any failure to 
give all or any portion of such additional notice shall in any manner defeat the effectiveness of a 
call for redemption. 

IX.  UTILIZATION OF THE DEPOSITORY TRUST COMPANY 

The Depository Trust Company’s Book-Entry-Only system is to be utilized for the 
obligations.  The Fiscal Agent agrees to comply with the provisions of the attached Blanket City 
Letter of Representation which has been executed and delivered to The Depository Trust 
Company by the City. 

X.  TRANSFER AND EXCHANGE OF OBLIGATIONS 

The Fiscal Agent shall transfer Obligations upon presentation of a written assignment 
duly executed by the registered owner or by such owner’s duly authorized legal representative.  
Upon such transfer, a new registered Obligation of authorized denomination or denominations in 
the same aggregate principal amount shall be issued to the transferee in exchange thereof, and 
the name of such transferee shall be entered as the new registered owner in the Registration 
Book.  Upon request of the registered owner, the Fiscal Agent shall exchange Obligations of the 
issue for a like aggregate principal amount of Obligations of the same maturity in authorized 
whole integral multiples of $5,000. 

The Obligations shall be numbered 1 and upward.  Upon any transfer or exchange, the 
Obligation or Obligations issued shall bear the next highest consecutive unused number or 
numbers. 

XI.  STATEMENTS 

The Fiscal Agent shall furnish the City with an accounting of payments received and 
made and funds on hand annually upon reasonable request. 

XII.  FEES 

The City agrees to pay the Fiscal Agent fees in accordance with the fee schedule 
provided by the Fiscal Agent which is attached hereto as Exhibit B and incorporated herein by 
this reference until the final principal payment (or redemption date in the event the City exercises 
its option, if any, to redeem the Obligations).  Such fees are payable on the dates principal is due 
or pursuant to statements provided to the City by the Fiscal Agent.  In the event the City 
exercises its option, if any, to redeem the Obligations, the Fiscal Agent shall be reimbursed for 
mailing costs related therewith. 



 
4 

XIII.  MISCELLANEOUS 

(a) Nonpresentment of Checks.  In the event the check or draft mailed by the Fiscal 
Agent to the registered owner is not presented for payment within six years of its date, then the 
monies representing such nonpayment shall be returned to the City or to such board, officer or 
body as may then be entitled by law to receive the same, together with the name of the registered 
owner of the Obligation and the last mailing address of record.  Thereafter, the Fiscal Agent shall 
not be responsible for the payment of such check or draft. 

(b) Resignations; Successor Fiscal Agent.  Fiscal Agent may at any time resign by 
giving not less than sixty days written notice to City.  Upon receiving such notice of resignation, 
the City shall promptly appoint a successor Fiscal Agent by an instrument in writing executed by 
order of its governing body.  If no successor Fiscal Agent shall have been so appointed and have 
accepted appointment within sixty days after such notice of resignation, the resigning Fiscal 
Agent may petition any court of competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a successor fiscal 
agent.  Such court may thereupon, after such notice, if any, as it may deem proper and prescribes, 
appoint a successor fiscal agent. 

Any successor fiscal agent shall be qualified to act pursuant to Section 67.10(2), 
Wisconsin Statutes, as amended. 

Any successor fiscal agent shall execute, acknowledge and deliver to the City and to its 
predecessor fiscal agent an instrument accepting such appointment hereunder, and thereupon the 
resignation of the predecessor fiscal agent shall become effective and such successor fiscal agent, 
without any further act, deed or conveyance, shall become vested with all the rights, powers, 
trusts, duties and obligations of its predecessor, with like effect as if originally named as fiscal 
agent herein; but nevertheless, on written request of City, or on the request of the successor, the 
fiscal agent ceasing to act shall execute and deliver an instrument transferring to such successor 
fiscal agent, all the rights, powers, and trusts of the fiscal agent so ceasing to act.  Upon the 
request of any such successor fiscal agent, the City shall execute any and all instruments in 
writing for more fully and certainly vesting in and confirming to such successor fiscal agent all 
such rights, powers and duties.  Any predecessor fiscal agent shall pay over to its successor fiscal 
agent any funds of the City. 

(c) Termination.  This Agreement shall terminate six years after the last principal 
payment on the Obligations is due whether by maturity or earlier redemption or the final 
discharge of the City’s responsibilities for payment of the Obligations, whichever is later.  The 
parties realize that any funds hereunder as shall remain upon termination shall be turned over to 
the City after deduction of any unpaid fees and disbursements of Fiscal Agent.  Termination of 
this Agreement shall not, of itself, have any effect on City’s obligation to pay the outstanding 
Obligations in full in accordance with the terms thereof. 

(d) Execution.  This Agreement shall be executed on behalf of the City and the Agent 
by their duly authorized officers.  This Agreement may be executed in several counter-parts, 
each of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute but one and the same 
agreement. 



 
5 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement, being duly 
authorized so to do, each in the manner most appropriate to it, on the date first above written. 



 
6 

SIGNATURE PAGE TO THE FISCAL AGENCY AGREEMENT 

CITY OF PLYMOUTH 
SHEBOYGAN COUNTY, WISCONSIN 

By:        
Donald Pohlman, 
Mayor 

(SEAL) 
And:        

Anna Voigt, 
City Clerk 



 
7 

SIGNATURE PAGE TO THE FISCAL AGENCY AGREEMENT 

BOND TRUST SERVICES CORPORATION 
MINNEAPOLIS, MINNESOTA  

 By:       
___________________ 
______________________(Title) 

And:        
___________________ 
______________________(Title) 



 

 
 

June 24, 2025  
 
 
 
PRE-SALE REPORT FOR 

 
City of Plymouth, Wisconsin 
 

$6,990,000 General Obligation Promissory Notes, 
Series 2025A 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
Prepared by: 
 
Ehlers  
N19W24400 Riverwood Drive, 
Suite 100 
Waukesha, WI 53188  

 Advisors: 
 
Kayla Thorpe, Associate Municipal Advisor 
Philip L. Cosson, Senior Municipal Advisor  
Paul Boening, Senior Financial Specialist 

 
 

BUILDING COMMUNITIES. IT’S WHAT WE DO. 
  



Presale Report  
City of Plymouth, Wisconsin 

June 24, 2025 
Page 1 

Proposed Issue: 
$6,990,000 General Obligation Promissory Notes, Series 2025A 

Purposes: 
The proposed issue includes financing for the following purposes: 

Reconstruction of Mill Pond Dam, street projects, parking lot improvements and construction 
of an electric storage building. 

Authority: 
The Notes are being issued pursuant to Wisconsin Statute(s): 

• 67.12(12)

The Notes will be general obligations of the City for which its full faith, credit and taxing 
powers are pledged. 

The Notes count against the City’s General Obligation Debt Capacity Limit of 5% of total City 
Equalized Valuation. Following issuance of the Notes, the City’s total General Obligation 
debt principal outstanding will be approximately $9,570,000, which is 16% of its limit. 
Remaining General Obligation Borrowing Capacity will be approximately $50,950,842. 

Term/Call Feature: 
The Notes are being issued for a term of 20 years. Principal on the Notes will be due on May 
1 in the years 2026 through 2045. Interest will be due every six months beginning May 1, 2026. 

The Notes will be subject to prepayment at the discretion of the City on May 1, 2034 or any 
date thereafter.   

Bank Qualification: 
Because the City is expecting to issue no more than $10,000,000 in tax exempt debt during 
the calendar year, the City will be able to designate the Notes as “bank qualified” obligations. 
Bank qualified status broadens the market for the Notes, which can result in lower interest 
rates. 

Rating: 
The City’s most recent bond issues were rated by Moody’s Investors Service. The current 
rating on those bonds is “Aa2”. The City will request a new rating for the Notes. 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF PROPOSED DEBT 



 

 
 
Presale Report  
City of Plymouth, Wisconsin 

June 24, 2025 
Page 2 

 

If the winning bidder on the Notes elects to purchase bond insurance, the rating for the issue 
may be higher than the City's bond rating in the event that the bond rating of the insurer is 
higher than that of the City. 

Basis for Recommendation: 
Based on your objectives, financial situation and need, risk tolerance, liquidity needs, 
experience with the issuance of Notes and long-term financial capacity, as well as the tax 
status considerations related to the Notes and the structure, timing and other similar matters 
related to the Notes, we are recommending the issuance of Notes as a suitable option.  

Method of Sale/Placement: 
We are recommending the Notes be issued as municipal securities and offered through a 
competitive underwriting process. You will solicit competitive bids, which we will compile on 
your behalf, for the purchase of the Notes from underwriters and banks. 

An allowance for discount bidding will be incorporated in the terms of the issue. The discount 
is treated as an interest item and provides the underwriter with all or a portion of their 
compensation in the transaction.  

If the Notes are purchased at a price greater than the minimum bid amount (maximum 
discount), the unused allowance may be used to reduce your borrowing amount.   

 

Premium Pricing: 
In some cases, investors in municipal bonds prefer “premium” pricing structures. A premium 
is achieved when the coupon for any maturity (the interest rate paid by the issuer) exceeds 
the yield to the investor, resulting in a price paid that is greater than the face value of the 
bonds. The sum of the amounts paid in excess of face value is considered “reoffering 
premium.”   

For this issue of Notes, any premium amount received that is in excess of the underwriting 
discount and any capitalized interest amounts must be placed in the debt service fund and 
used to pay a portion of the interest payments due on the Notes. We anticipate using any 
premium amounts received to reduce the issue size. 

The amount of premium allowed can be restricted in the bid specifications. Restrictions on 
premium may result in fewer bids, but may also eliminate large adjustments on the day of sale 
and unintended results with respect to debt service payment impacts. Ehlers will identify 
appropriate premium restrictions for the Notes intended to achieve the City’s objectives for 
this financing.  

Parameters: 
The Common Council will consider adoption of a Parameters Resolution on June 24, 2025, 
which delegates authority to the City Administrator or Clerk/Treasurer to accept and approve 
a bid for the Notes so long as the bid meets certain parameters. These parameters are: 



 

 
 
Presale Report  
City of Plymouth, Wisconsin 

June 24, 2025 
Page 3 

 

* Issue size not to exceed $6,990,000 

* Maximum Bid of 107.0% 

* Minimum Bid of 98.75% 

* Maximum True Interest Cost (TIC) of 5.50% 

* Maturity Schedule Adjustments not to exceed $150,000 per maturity 

Other Considerations: 
The Notes will be offered with the option of the successful bidder utilizing a term bond 
structure. By offering underwriters the option to “term up” some of the maturities at the time 
of the sale, it gives them more flexibility in finding a market for your Notes. This makes your 
issue more marketable, which can result in lower borrowing costs. In the event that the 
successful bidder utilizes a term bond structure, we recommend the City retain a paying agent 
to handle responsibility for processing mandatory redemption/call notices associated with 
term bonds. 

Review of Existing Debt: 
We have reviewed all outstanding indebtedness for the City and find that there are no 
refunding opportunities at this time. 

We will continue to monitor the market and the call dates for the City’s outstanding debt and 
will alert you to any future refunding opportunities. 

Continuing Disclosure: 
Because the City has more than $10,000,000 in outstanding debt subject to a continuing 
disclosure undertaking (including this issue) and this issue does not meet an available 
exemption from continuing disclosure, the City will be agreeing to provide certain updated 
Annual Financial Information and its Audited Financial Statement annually, as well as 
providing notices of the occurrence of certain reportable events to the Municipal Securities 
Rulemaking Board (the “MSRB”), as required by rules of the Securities and Exchange 
Commission (SEC).  The City is already obligated to provide such reports for its existing 
bonds, and has contracted with Ehlers to prepare and file the reports.  

Arbitrage Monitoring: 
The City must ensure compliance with certain sections of the Internal Revenue Code and 
Treasury Regulations (“Arbitrage Rules”) throughout the life of the issue to maintain the tax-
exempt status of the Notes. These Arbitrage Rules apply to amounts held in construction, 
escrow, reserve, debt service account(s), etc., along with related investment income on each 
fund/account. 

IRS audits will verify compliance with rebate, yield restriction and records retention 
requirements within the Arbitrage Rules. The City’s specific arbitrage responsibilities will be 
detailed in the Certificate With Respect to Arbitrage and Other Tax Matters (the “Tax 
Compliance Document”) prepared by your Bond Attorney and provided at closing. 



 

 
 
Presale Report  
City of Plymouth, Wisconsin 

June 24, 2025 
Page 4 

 

The Notes may qualify for one or more exception(s) to the Arbitrage Rules by meeting 1) small 
issuer exception, 2) spend down requirements, 3) bona fide debt service fund limits, 4) 
reasonable reserve requirements, 5) expenditure within an available period limitations, 6) 
investments yield restrictions, 7) de minimis rules, or; 8) borrower limited requirements. 

An Ehlers arbitrage expert will contact the City within 30 days after the sale date to review 
the City’s specific responsibilities for the Notes. The City is currently receiving arbitrage 
services from Ehlers in relation to the Notes. 

Investment of Note Proceeds: 
Ehlers can assist the City in developing a strategy to invest your Note proceeds until the funds 
are needed to pay project costs. 

Risk Factors: 
G.O. with Planned Abatement: The issuer is abating all or a portion of G.O. debt service 
payments for the issue with tax incremental revenues, water utility revenues and electric 
revenues. In the event this/these revenue(s) is/are not available, the City is obligated to levy 
property taxes in an amount sufficient to make all debt payments. 

Other Service Providers: 
This debt issuance will require the engagement of other public finance service providers. This 
section identifies those other service providers, so Ehlers can coordinate their engagement 
on your behalf. Where you have previously used a particular firm to provide a service, we have 
assumed that you will continue that relationship. For services you have not previously 
required, we have identified a service provider. Fees charged by these service providers will 
be paid from proceeds of the obligation, unless you notify us that you wish to pay them from 
other sources. Our pre-sale bond sizing includes a good faith estimate of these fees, but the 
final fees may vary. If you have any questions pertaining to the identified service providers or 
their role, or if you would like to use a different service provider for any of the listed services 
please contact us. 

Bond Counsel: Griggs Law Office LLC 

Paying Agent: Bond Trust Services Corporation 

Rating Agency: Moody's Investors Service, Inc.  

  



 

 
 
Presale Report  
City of Plymouth, Wisconsin 

June 24, 2025 
Page 5 

 

 

Pre-Sale Review by Common Council: June 24, 2025 

Due Diligence Call to Review Official Statement: Week of July 7, 2025 

Conference with Rating Agency: Week of July 7, 2025 

Distribute Official Statement: July 16, 2025 

Designated Officials Award Sale of the Notes: July 23, 2025 

Estimated Closing Date: August 13, 2025  

 
Attachments 

GO Debt Base Case 

Capital Improvement Plan & Funding Uses 

Capital Improvements Financing Plan 

Allocation of Debt Service 

Financing Plan Tax Impact – 2025 GO Notes 

Financing Plan Tax Impact – 2025-2027 CIP 

General Obligation Debt Capacity Analysis 

Bond Buyer Index 

EHLERS’ CONTACTS 

 
Kayla Thorpe, Associate Municipal Advisor (262) 796-6197 

Philip L. Cosson, Senior Municipal Advisor (262) 796-6161 

Paul Boening, Senior Financial Specialist (262) 796-6199 

Sue Porter, Lead Public Finance Analyst (262) 796-6167 

Kathy Myers, Senior Financial Analyst (262) 796-6177 

 

PROPOSED DEBT ISSUANCE SCHEDULE 

EHLERS’ CONTACTS 



Table 1

Existing G.O. Debt Base Case
City of Plymouth, WI

Net Debt Service Annual Taxes

Year Less: Less: Less: Debt Service Levy Change Tax Rate $100,000 Year

Ending Water TID 5 TID 6 Levy From PY Per $1,000 Home Ending

2025 1,502,556 (777,106) (243,175) (99,675) 382,600 382,600 951,681,500 $0.40 $40.20 2025

2026 784,900 (288,675) (172,400) (97,125) 226,700 (155,900) 1,158,832,453 $0.20 $19.56 2026

2027 795,900 (290,875) (173,350) (104,425) 227,250 550 1,208,478,561 $0.19 $18.80 2027

2028 571,200 (294,150) (170,050) (107,000) 0 (227,250) 1,260,251,582 $0.00 $0.00 2028

2029 575,250 (293,600) (171,700) (109,950) 0 0 1,314,242,637 $0.00 $0.00 2029

2030 385,950 (283,050) (102,900) 0 0 1,370,546,748 $0.00 $0.00 2030

2031 363,600 (267,650) (95,950) 0 0 1,429,263,012 $0.00 $0.00 2031

2032 0 0 1,490,494,768 $0.00 $0.00 2032

2033 0 0 1,554,349,784 $0.00 $0.00 2033

2034 0 0 1,620,940,443 $0.00 $0.00 2034

Total 4,979,356 (2,495,106) (930,675) (717,025) 836,550 Total

Notes: Legend:

Represents +/- 25% Change over previous year

Total G.O. 

Debt 

Payments

Equalized Value                    

(TID OUT)

Existing Debt

Financing Plan Plymouth 2025 6.18.25

Prepared 6/18/2025



Table 2

Capital Improvement Plan & Funding Uses
City of Plymouth, WI

Projects Purpose/Dept. Plan Issue Funding 2025 2026 2027 Totals

Mill Pond Dam Dam 2025 G.O. Notes G.O. Debt 3,471,000 3,471,000

Road Project Streets 2025 G.O. Notes G.O. Debt 629,382 629,382

Road Project Utilities Utility 2025 G.O. Notes G.O. Debt 773,613 773,613

Electric Storage Building Electric 2025 G.O. Notes G.O. Debt 1,861,450 1,861,450

Grove Street Streets 2026 G.O. Notes G.O. Debt 500,000 500,000

City Park Parks 2026 G.O. Notes G.O. Debt 1,000,000 1,000,000

Grove Street Utilities Utility 2026 G.O. Notes G.O. Debt 500,000 500,000

Lap Pool Pool 2026 G.O. Notes G.O. Debt 2,000,000 2,000,000

Fire Truck Fire 2027 G.O. Notes G.O. Debt 2,000,000 2,000,000

West Stafford Street Parking Lot TID 8 2025 G.O. Notes G.O. Debt 2,150,000 2,150,000

Actual CIP Costs 8,885,445 4,000,000 2,000,000 14,885,445

 Debt Obligations 

2025 G.O. Notes 8,885,445 0 0 8,885,445

2026 G.O. Notes 0 4,000,000 0 4,000,000

2027 G.O. Notes 0 0 2,000,000 2,000,000

Total 8,885,445 4,000,000 2,000,000 14,885,445

Financing Plan Plymouth 2025 6.18.25

Prepared 6/18/2025



Table 3

Capital Improvements Financing Plan
City of Plymouth, WI

2025

G.O. Notes
Dam 

Portion

Streets 

Portion

Utility 

Portion

Electric 

Portion

TID 8 

Portion

 

CIP Projects1

Mill Pond Dam 3,471,000       3,471,000

Road Project 629,382          629,382

Road Project Utilities 773,613          773,613

Electric Storage Building 1,861,450       1,861,450

Fiber Extension Substation -                  

West Stafford Street Parking Lot 2,150,000       2,150,000

Subtotal Project Costs 8,885,445 3,471,000 629,382 773,613 1,861,450 2,150,000

CIP Projects
1 8,885,445 3,471,000 629,382 773,613 1,861,450 2,150,000

Less Other Available Revenues

Cash Available (Capital Fund Reserves) (129,382) (129,382)

Grant Funding (1,867,000) (1,867,000)

Net Borrowing Requirement 6,889,063 1,604,000 500,000 773,613 1,861,450 2,150,000

Estimated Issuance Expenses 173,825 40,410 12,683 19,521 47,000 54,212

Municipal Advisor (Ehlers) 44,600 10,368 3,254 5,009 12,059 13,910

Bond Counsel 20,000 4,649 1,459 2,246 5,408 6,237

Disclosure Counsel 0 0 0 0 0 0

Rating Fee 21,000 4,882 1,532 2,358 5,678 6,549

Maximum Underwriter's Discount 12.50 87,375 20,313 6,375 9,813 23,625 27,250

Paying Agent 850 198 62 95 230 265

Subtotal Issuance Expenses 173,825 40,410 12,683 19,521 47,000 54,212

TOTAL TO BE FINANCED 7,062,888 1,644,410 512,683 793,134 1,908,450 2,204,212

Estimated Interest Earnings 4.39% (75,607) (17,604) (5,488) (8,490) (20,429) (23,596)

Assumed spend down (months) 3

Rounding 2,720              (1,806) 2,805 357 1,980 (615)

NET BOND SIZE 6,990,000      1,625,000  510,000     785,000     1,890,000  2,180,000  

Notes:

1) Project Total Estimates

Financing Plan Plymouth 2025 6.18.25

Prepared 6/18/2025



Table 4

Allocation of Debt Service - 2025 G.O. Notes
City of Plymouth, WI

Year Year

Ending Principal Est. Rate1
Interest Total Principal Est. Rate Interest Total Principal Est. Rate Interest Total Principal Est. Rate Interest Total Principal Est. Rate Interest Total Ending Principal (5/1) Interest Total

2026 50,000 3.45% 72,484 122,484 75,000 3.45% 20,769 95,769 20,000 3.45% 39,345 59,345 50,000 3.45% 94,674 144,674 15,000 3.45% 111,945 126,945 2026 210,000 339,218 549,218

2027 50,000 3.50% 57,685 107,685 110,000 3.50% 13,622 123,622 30,000 3.50% 31,407 61,407 70,000 3.50% 75,574 145,574 15,000 3.50% 91,442 106,442 2027 275,000 269,729 544,729

2028 250,000 3.53% 52,398 302,398 110,000 3.53% 9,755 119,755 30,000 3.53% 30,353 60,353 70,000 3.53% 73,113 143,113 15,000 3.53% 90,915 105,915 2028 475,000 256,533 731,533

2029 200,000 3.60% 44,385 244,385 110,000 3.60% 5,834 115,834 30,000 3.60% 29,283 59,283 75,000 3.60% 70,528 145,528 50,000 3.60% 89,750 139,750 2029 465,000 239,779 704,779

2030 200,000 3.67% 37,115 237,115 105,000 3.67% 1,927 106,927 30,000 3.67% 28,193 58,193 75,000 3.67% 67,801 142,801 95,000 3.67% 87,107 182,107 2030 505,000 222,142 727,142

2031 200,000 3.71% 29,735 229,735 3.71% 0 0 30,000 3.71% 27,086 57,086 80,000 3.71% 64,941 144,941 100,000 3.71% 83,509 183,509 2031 410,000 205,270 615,270

2032 200,000 3.76% 22,265 222,265 3.76% 0 0 35,000 3.76% 25,871 60,871 80,000 3.76% 61,953 141,953 100,000 3.76% 79,774 179,774 2032 415,000 189,863 604,863

2033 200,000 3.82% 14,685 214,685 3.82% 0 0 35,000 3.82% 24,545 59,545 85,000 3.82% 58,826 143,826 105,000 3.82% 75,888 180,888 2033 425,000 173,943 598,943

2034 150,000 3.91% 7,933 157,933 3.91% 0 0 35,000 3.91% 23,192 58,192 85,000 3.91% 55,540 140,540 110,000 3.91% 71,732 181,732 2034 380,000 158,397 538,397

2035 125,000 4.00% 2,500 127,500 4.00% 0 0 40,000 4.00% 21,708 61,708 90,000 4.00% 52,079 142,079 115,000 4.00% 67,282 182,282 2035 370,000 143,568 513,568

2036 4.08% 0 4.08% 0 40,000 4.08% 20,092 60,092 95,000 4.08% 48,341 143,341 120,000 4.08% 62,534 182,534 2036 255,000 130,966 385,966

2037 4.15% 0 4.15% 0 40,000 4.15% 18,446 58,446 95,000 4.15% 44,431 139,431 125,000 4.15% 57,492 182,492 2037 260,000 120,369 380,369

2038 4.23% 0 4.23% 0 40,000 4.23% 16,770 56,770 100,000 4.23% 40,345 140,345 130,000 4.23% 52,149 182,149 2038 270,000 109,263 379,263

2039 4.31% 0 4.31% 0 45,000 4.31% 14,954 59,954 105,000 4.31% 35,967 140,967 135,000 4.31% 46,490 181,490 2039 285,000 97,411 382,411

2040 4.42% 0 4.42% 0 45,000 4.42% 12,990 57,990 110,000 4.42% 31,274 141,274 140,000 4.42% 40,487 180,487 2040 295,000 84,750 379,750

2041 4.50% 0 4.50% 0 50,000 4.50% 10,870 60,870 115,000 4.50% 26,255 141,255 145,000 4.50% 34,130 179,130 2041 310,000 71,255 381,255

2042 4.55% 0 4.55% 0 50,000 4.55% 8,608 58,608 120,000 4.55% 20,938 140,938 155,000 4.55% 27,341 182,341 2042 325,000 56,886 381,886

2043 4.60% 0 4.60% 0 50,000 4.60% 6,320 56,320 125,000 4.60% 15,333 140,333 160,000 4.60% 20,135 180,135 2043 335,000 41,788 376,788

2044 4.65% 0 4.65% 0 55,000 4.65% 3,891 58,891 130,000 4.65% 9,435 139,435 170,000 4.65% 12,503 182,503 2044 355,000 25,829 380,829

2045 4.75% 0 4.75% 0 55,000 4.75% 1,306 56,306 135,000 4.75% 3,206 138,206 180,000 4.75% 4,275 184,275 2045 370,000 8,788 378,788

2046 0 0 0 0 2046 0 0 0

2047 0 0 2047 0 0 0

2048 0 0 2048 0 0 0

Total 1,625,000 341,184 1,966,184 510,000 51,906 561,906 785,000 395,225 1,180,225 1,890,000 950,552 2,840,552 2,180,000 1,206,875 3,386,875 Total 6,990,000 2,945,742 9,935,742

Notes:

1) Estimated Rate assumes Aa2 sale of 4/29/25 + .35

Dam Portion Streets Portion Utility Portion Electric Portion TID 8 Portion Totals

Financing Plan Plymouth 2025 6.18.25

Prepared 6/18/2025



Table 5

Financing Plan Tax Impact - 2025 GO Notes Only
City of Plymouth, WI

2025 G.O. Notes

Net Debt Change Annual Taxes 6,990,000 Total Levy Change Total Tax Annual Taxes Annual Taxes

Year Less: Less: Less: Service From Prior Tax Rate $100,000 Dated: 8/13/2025 Less: Less: Less: Net Debt from Prior Rate for $100,000 Difference Year

Ending Water TID 5 TID 6 Levy Year Levy Per $1,000 Home Total Principal and Interest Utility Portion Electric Portion TID 8 Portion Year Debt Service Home From Existing Ending

2025 1,502,556 (777,106) (243,175) (99,675) 382,600 951,681,500 $0.40 $40.20 0 0 0 0 382,600 $0.40 $40 $0.00 2025

2026 784,900 (288,675) (172,400) (97,125) 226,700 (155,900) 1,158,832,453 $0.20 $19.56 549,218 (59,345) (144,674) 0 571,898 189,298 $0.49 $49 $30 2026

2027 795,900 (290,875) (173,350) (104,425) 227,250 550 1,208,478,561 $0.19 $18.80 544,729 (61,407) (145,574) 0 564,999 (6,900) $0.47 $47 $28 2027

2028 571,200 (294,150) (170,050) (107,000) 0 (227,250) 1,260,251,582 $0.00 $0.00 731,533 (60,353) (143,113) (46,856) 481,212 (83,787) $0.38 $38 $38 2028

2029 575,250 (293,600) (171,700) (109,950) 0 0 1,314,242,637 $0.00 $0.00 704,779 (59,283) (145,528) (91,209) 408,760 (72,452) $0.31 $31 $31 2029

2030 385,950 (283,050) 0 (102,900) 0 0 1,370,546,748 $0.00 $0.00 727,142 (58,193) (142,801) (91,447) 434,702 25,942 $0.32 $32 $32 2030

2031 363,600 (267,650) 0 (95,950) 0 0 1,429,263,012 $0.00 $0.00 615,270 (57,086) (144,941) (91,684) 321,560 (113,142) $0.22 $22 $22 2031

2032 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,490,494,768 $0.00 $0.00 604,863 (60,871) (141,953) (91,922) 310,117 (11,443) $0.21 $21 $21 2032

2033 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,554,349,784 $0.00 $0.00 598,943 (59,545) (143,826) (92,160) 303,413 (6,704) $0.20 $20 $20 2033

2034 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,620,940,443 $0.00 $0.00 538,397 (58,192) (140,540) (92,400) 247,265 (56,149) $0.15 $15 $15 2034

2035 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,690,383,946 $0.00 $0.00 513,568 (61,708) (142,079) (92,640) 217,142 (30,123) $0.13 $13 $13 2035

2036 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,762,802,512 $0.00 $0.00 385,966 (60,092) (143,341) (92,880) 89,654 (127,488) $0.05 $5 $5 2036

2037 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,838,323,596 $0.00 $0.00 380,369 (58,446) (139,431) (93,121) 89,371 (283) $0.05 $5 $5 2037

2038 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,917,080,117 $0.00 $0.00 379,263 (56,770) (140,345) (93,363) 88,786 (585) $0.05 $5 $5 2038

2039 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,999,210,684 $0.00 $0.00 382,411 (59,954) (140,967) (93,605) 87,885 (901) $0.04 $4 $4 2039

2040 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,084,859,847 $0.00 $0.00 379,750 (57,990) (141,274) (93,849) 86,638 (1,247) $0.04 $4 $4 2040

2041 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,174,178,348 $0.00 $0.00 381,255 (60,870) (141,255) (94,091) 85,039 (1,599) $0.04 $4 $4 2041

2042 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,267,323,386 $0.00 $0.00 381,886 (58,608) (140,938) (94,334) 88,007 2,968 $0.04 $4 $4 2042

2043 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,364,458,897 $0.00 $0.00 376,788 (56,320) (140,333) (94,580) 85,555 (2,452) $0.04 $4 $4 2043

2044 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,465,755,837 $0.00 $0.00 380,829 (58,891) (139,435) (94,825) 87,678 2,123 $0.04 $4 $4 2044

2045 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,571,392,489 $0.00 $0.00 378,788 (56,306) (138,206) (95,071) 89,204 1,526 $0.03 $3 $3 2045

Total 4,979,356 (2,495,106) (930,675) (717,025) 836,550 9,935,742 (1,180,225) (2,840,552) (1,630,033) $305.18 Total

Total Cost of Finaning Plan to Sample Taxpayer

Notes:

Proposed DebtExisting Debt

Total Debt 

Payments

Equalized Value                    

(TID OUT)

Abatements Debt Service Levy Taxes

Financing Plan Plymouth 2025 6.18.25

Prepared 6/18/2025



Table 6

Financing Plan Tax Impact - 2025-2027 CIP
City of Plymouth, WI

2025 G.O. Notes 2026 G.O. Notes 2027 G.O. Notes
Net Debt Change Annual Taxes 6,990,000 4,090,000 2,065,000 Total Levy Change Total Tax Annual Taxes Annual Taxes

Year Less: Less: Less: Service From Prior Tax Rate $100,000 Dated: 8/13/2025 Dated: 5/1/2026 Dated: 5/1/2027 Less: Less: Less: Net Debt from Prior Rate for $100,000 Difference Year

Ending Water TID 5 TID 6 Levy Year Levy Per $1,000 Home Total Principal and Interest Total Principal and Interest Total Principal and Interest Utility Portion Electric Portion TID 8 Year Debt Service Home From Existing Ending

2025 1,502,556 (777,106) (243,175) (99,675) 382,600 951,681,500 $0.40 $40.20 0 0 0 0 0 382,600 $0.40 $40 $0.00 2025

2026 784,900 (288,675) (172,400) (97,125) 226,700 (155,900) 1,158,832,453 $0.20 $19.56 549,218 0 0 (59,345) (144,674) 571,898 189,298 $0.49 $49 $30 2026

2027 795,900 (290,875) (173,350) (104,425) 227,250 550 1,208,478,561 $0.19 $18.80 544,729 267,462 0 (97,974) (145,574) 855,218 283,320 $0.71 $71 $52 2027

2028 571,200 (294,150) (170,050) (107,000) 0 (227,250) 1,260,251,582 $0.00 $0.00 731,533 350,800 200,777 (100,883) (143,113) (46,856) 1,039,795 184,577 $0.83 $83 $83 2028

2029 575,250 (293,600) (171,700) (109,950) 0 0 1,314,242,637 $0.00 $0.00 704,779 363,226 277,911 (99,056) (145,528) (91,209) 1,055,936 16,142 $0.80 $80 $80 2029

2030 385,950 (283,050) 0 (102,900) 0 0 1,370,546,748 $0.00 $0.00 727,142 296,519 270,131 (97,220) (142,801) (91,447) 1,006,412 (49,524) $0.73 $73 $73 2030

2031 363,600 (267,650) 0 (95,950) 0 0 1,429,263,012 $0.00 $0.00 615,270 290,939 262,481 (95,369) (144,941) (91,684) 879,059 (127,353) $0.62 $62 $62 2031

2032 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,490,494,768 $0.00 $0.00 604,863 285,359 156,751 (98,411) (141,953) (91,922) 760,181 (118,878) $0.51 $51 $51 2032

2033 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,554,349,784 $0.00 $0.00 598,943 328,849 128,409 (96,340) (143,826) (92,160) 767,356 7,175 $0.49 $49 $49 2033

2034 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,620,940,443 $0.00 $0.00 538,397 336,130 125,544 (99,150) (140,540) (92,400) 714,305 (53,052) $0.44 $44 $44 2034

2035 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,690,383,946 $0.00 $0.00 513,568 352,667 117,774 (101,736) (142,079) (92,640) 696,436 (17,869) $0.41 $41 $41 2035

2036 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,762,802,512 $0.00 $0.00 385,966 412,422 134,718 (99,189) (143,341) (92,880) 643,990 (52,446) $0.37 $37 $37 2036

2037 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,838,323,596 $0.00 $0.00 380,369 405,702 131,276 (96,605) (139,431) (93,121) 588,189 (55,801) $0.32 $32 $32 2037

2038 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,917,080,117 $0.00 $0.00 379,263 339,799 127,811 (93,981) (140,345) (93,363) 519,184 (69,005) $0.27 $27 $27 2038

2039 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,999,210,684 $0.00 $0.00 382,411 329,737 124,305 (96,197) (140,967) (93,605) 505,683 (13,501) $0.25 $25 $25 2039

2040 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,084,859,847 $0.00 $0.00 379,750 328,809 120,732 (98,095) (141,274) (93,849) 496,073 (9,610) $0.24 $24 $24 2040

2041 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,174,178,348 $0.00 $0.00 381,255 307,062 116,934 (99,645) (141,255) (94,091) 470,260 (25,814) $0.22 $22 $22 2041

2042 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,267,323,386 $0.00 $0.00 381,886 202,393 112,853 (96,018) (140,938) (94,334) 365,842 (104,417) $0.16 $16 $16 2042

2043 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,364,458,897 $0.00 $0.00 376,788 199,755 108,668 (97,248) (140,333) (94,580) 353,049 (12,793) $0.15 $15 $15 2043

2044 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,465,755,837 $0.00 $0.00 380,829 196,819 104,474 (98,209) (139,435) (94,825) 349,653 (3,397) $0.14 $14 $14 2044

2045 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,571,392,489 $0.00 $0.00 378,788 198,466 100,244 (94,000) (138,206) (95,071) 350,220 568 $0.14 $14 $14 2045

2046 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,681,554,773 $0.00 $0.00 0 199,583 95,978 (40,940) 0 0 254,620 (95,600) $0.09 $9 $9 2046

2047 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,796,436,573 $0.00 $0.00 0 0 81,920 0 0 81,920 (172,700) $0.03 $3 $3 2047

2048 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,916,240,080 $0.00 $0.00 0 0 0 0 0 (81,920) $0.00 $0 $0 2048

2049 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,041,176,148 $0.00 $0.00 0 0 0 0 0 0 $0.00 $0 $0 2049

2050 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,171,464,664 $0.00 $0.00 0 0 0 0 0 0 $0.00 $0 $0 2050

2051 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,307,334,933 $0.00 $0.00 0 0 0 0 0 $0.00 $0 $0 2051

2052 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,449,026,087 $0.00 $0.00 0 0 0 0 0 $0.00 $0 $0 2052

2053 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,596,787,501 $0.00 $0.00 0 0 0 0 0 $0.00 $0 $0 2053

2054 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,750,879,234 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2054

Total 4,979,356 (2,495,106) (930,675) (717,025) 836,550 9,935,742 5,992,493 2,899,686 (1,955,610) (2,840,552) (1,630,033) $802.80 Total

Total Cost of Finaning Plan to Sample Taxpayer

Notes:

Existing Debt Proposed Debt

Abatements Debt Service Levy Taxes

Total Debt 

Payments

Equalized Value                    

(TID OUT)

Financing Plan Plymouth 2025 6.18.25

Prepared 6/18/2025



Table 7

General Obligation Debt Capacity Analysis - Impact of Financing Plan
City of Plymouth, WI

Projected  Existing  Combined Principal  

Year Equalized Principal Existing Year

Ending Value (TID IN)
1

Debt Limit Outstanding % of Limit 2025 G.O. Notes 2026 G.O. Notes 2027 G.O. Notes & Proposed Ending

2024 1,161,710,500 58,085,525 3,300,000 6% $3,300,000 6% $54,785,525 2024

2025 1,210,416,848 60,520,842 2,580,000 4% 6,990,000 $9,570,000 16% $50,950,842 2025

2026 1,261,165,278 63,058,264 1,830,000 3% 6,780,000 4,090,000 $12,700,000 20% $50,358,264 2026

2027 1,314,041,408 65,702,070 1,290,000 2% 6,505,000 4,070,000 2,065,000 $13,930,000 21% $51,772,070 2027

2028 1,369,134,443 68,456,722 735,000 1% 6,030,000 3,880,000 1,990,000 $12,635,000 18% $55,821,722 2028

2029 1,426,537,332 71,326,867 360,000 1% 5,565,000 3,670,000 1,790,000 $11,385,000 16% $59,941,867 2029

2030 1,486,346,918 74,317,346 0 0% 5,060,000 3,520,000 1,590,000 $10,170,000 14% $64,147,346 2030

2031 1,548,664,105 77,433,205 0% 4,650,000 3,370,000 1,390,000 $9,410,000 12% $68,023,205 2031

2032 1,613,594,027 80,679,701 0% 4,235,000 3,220,000 1,290,000 $8,745,000 11% $71,934,701 2032

2033 1,681,246,228 84,062,311 0% 3,810,000 3,020,000 1,215,000 $8,045,000 10% $76,017,311 2033

2034 1,751,734,843 87,586,742 0% 3,430,000 2,805,000 1,140,000 $7,375,000 8% $80,211,742 2034

2035 1,825,178,792 91,258,940 0% 3,060,000 2,565,000 1,070,000 $6,695,000 7% $84,563,940 2035

2036 1,901,701,982 95,085,099 0% 2,805,000 2,255,000 980,000 $6,040,000 6% $89,045,099 2036

2037 1,981,433,514 99,071,676 0% 2,545,000 1,940,000 890,000 $5,375,000 5% $93,696,676 2037

2038 2,064,507,904 103,225,395 0% 2,275,000 1,680,000 800,000 $4,755,000 5% $98,470,395 2038

2039 2,151,065,304 107,553,265 0% 1,990,000 1,420,000 710,000 $4,120,000 4% $103,433,265 2039

2040 2,241,251,744 112,062,587 0% 1,695,000 1,150,000 620,000 $3,465,000 3% $108,597,587 2040

2041 2,335,219,379 116,760,969 0% 1,385,000 890,000 530,000 $2,805,000 2% $113,955,969 2041

2042 2,433,126,738 121,656,337 0% 1,060,000 725,000 440,000 $2,225,000 2% $119,431,337 2042

2043 2,535,139,002 126,756,950 0% 725,000 555,000 350,000 $1,630,000 1% $125,126,950 2043

2044 2,641,428,273 132,071,414 0% 370,000 380,000 260,000 $1,010,000 1% $131,061,414 2044

2045 2,752,173,871 137,608,694 0% 0 195,000 170,000 $365,000 0% $137,243,694 2045

2046 2,867,562,635 143,378,132 0% 0 80,000 $80,000 0% $143,298,132 2046

2047 2,987,789,235 149,389,462 0% 0 $0 0% $149,389,462 2047

2048 3,113,056,504 155,652,825 0% 0% $155,652,825 2048

Notes:

1) Projected TID IN EV based on 5-year average at 0.0419264076350484 % annual inflation.

% of Limit Residual Capacity

Proposed DebtExisting Debt

Financing Plan Plymouth 2025 6.18.25

Prepared 6/18/2025



1 YEAR TREND IN MUNICIPAL BOND INDICES

Source: The Bond Buyer

The Bond Buyer “20 Bond Index” (BBI) shows average yields on a group of municipal bonds that 
mature in 20 years and have an average rating equivalent to Moody’s Aa2 and S&P’s AA. 



1 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 
City of Plymouth 
128 Smith St. - P.O. Box 107 
Plymouth, WI  53073-0107 
   

 

 
 
 

Telephone: (920) 893-3745 
Facsimile: (920) 893-0183 

     Web Site:        plymouthgov.com 
 
 

 
DATE: June 19, 2025 

TO: Mayor and Common Council 
 
FROM: Tim Blakeslee, City Administrator Utilities Manager  
 
RE: Approval of Development Agreement with LAG Family LLC 

 
 
Background: Following direction from the Common Council during closed sessions held on 
April 25, May 13, and June 10, City Staff and LAG Family LLC have reached consensus on 
a development agreement. This agreement will facilitate the generation of approximately 
$6.5 million in new tax increment through the construction of the Henry Christopher Hotel, 
establish Tax Incremental District (TID) #8, and enable the redevelopment of the West 
Stafford Street Parking Lot. The draft agreement is attached (Attachment 1). General terms 
include: 
• The City will establish TID#8 by September 30, 2025 (Redevelopment TID). 
• The City will make reasonable efforts to complete public infrastructure improvements, 

including the West Stafford Street Parking Lot and associated Stafford Street 
improvements, by November 1, 2026. 

• The total TID#8 contribution is approximately $2,529,520 million, with the City 
contributing roughly $1,401,567 million over the district's lifespan. This contribution 
comprises an advance of approximately $404,212 from TID#4 closure disbursement 
and an initial city levy contribution of roughly $1,756,843 million. The City will 
subsequently be reimbursed approximately $759,488 by TID#8 during the district's final 
eight years. 

• LAG Family LLC agrees to construct a hotel that will generate at least $6.5 million in 
new assessed value by 2027, resulting in approximately $2,539,520 million in tax 
increment revenue for TID#8. 

o Should the hotel not achieve this assessed value by 2027, LAG Family LLC will 
make annual deficiency payments equal to the difference between actual taxes 
generated and the taxes due on $6.5 million in assessed value. This provision 
extends through 2046, coinciding with the repayment period of the debt for the 
parking lot improvements. 

• The City will reimburse LAG Family LLC up to $350,000 for hotel-specific public 
infrastructure improvements, such as sidewalk leveling, new sidewalk installation, curb 
cuts, certain underground utilities, and partial repaving of Stafford Street. All 
improvements must meet City specifications. 

• Half of the unallocated general fund room tax generated specifically by the Henry 
Christopher Hotel will be returned to LAG Family LLC via TID reimbursement to 
advertise the hotel through 2032, estimated at $8,500 to $17,000 annually. 

• The City will provide up to 35 overnight parking passes for hotel visitors and up to 10 
parking passes for hotel employees. Parking spaces are not individually guaranteed 
and are available on a first-come, first-served basis. 

• Stafford Street may be closed from project commencement through November 1, 2026. 



2 | P a g e  
 

• The development agreement will be recorded against the property and transferred 
automatically in the event of ownership changes. 

 
Several related items are also on tonight’s agenda, including initiating property acquisitions 
necessary for the parking lot project, proceeding with the creation of TID#8, and initiating 
the debt issuance process required for financing the parking lot. 
 
 
Recommendation: Approve Development Agreement with Lag Family, LLC as presented. 
 
Attachments: Draft Development Agreement 
 

 
 



 Development Agreement for Lag Family, LLC 
 

Page 1 of 13 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT FOR 
LAG FAMILY, LLC 

 
THIS DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is entered into by and between 

the CITY OF PLYMOUTH, a municipal corporation, maintaining its principal offices at Wisconsin 
53073 (hereinafter “CITY”) and LAG Family LLC, a Wisconsin limited liability company, 
maintaining its principal office at 1 Persnickety Place, Plymouth, Wisconsin 53073, (hereinafter 
“DEVELOPER”). 

 
RECITALS 

 
WHEREAS, the DEVELOPER, a Wisconsin Limited Liability company, wishes to develop a 

historic boutique hotel through the renovation of a signature property in Plymouth’s history, which 
will spur downtown reinvestment and increased foot traffic to benefit surrounding businesses in 
the Downtown Plymouth Historic District; 

 
WHEREAS, DEVELOPER, has acquired the real property described on Exhibit A, 

attached hereto, located in the City of Plymouth, Sheboygan County, Wisconsin, and will 
implement a historic renovation of the property to create approximately 35 hotel rooms, a roof top 
bar, and destination dining and wedding venue (the “Property” or the “Hotel”); 

 
WHEREAS, DEVELOPER will contract with Legacy Architects and A. Chappa Construction 

to renovate the buildings according to the standards outlined by the National Trust for Historic Preservation; said 
renovation is anticipated to create approximately $6,500,000 of new value on the Property (the 
“Development”); 

WHEREAS, the Property is located in the Downtown Plymouth Historic District consisting of 
fifty-one (51) commercial buildings;  

 
WHEREAS, the CITY intends to create Plymouth’s Tax Incremental District No. 8 ("TID 8"), 

a Redevelopment Tax Increment District by September 1, 2025, to support the development of 
the Property and fund the necessary amenities to support the intended use. TID 8 will include the 
Property in order to fund a portion of the total public investment required for the Development; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, the CITY intends to support the Development by (i) undertaking the public 

improvements listed in the attached Exhibit B and by (ii) reimbursing the DEVELOPER with a 
cash grant up to $350,000 for the DEVELOPER’s undertaking of the public improvements listed 
in Exhibit C; 

 
WHEREAS, the Hotel will attract tourists to the CITY, guests of the Hotel will visit other 

businesses, attractions and establishments within the CITY and the CITY desires to support the 
Hotel as a means of promoting and encouraging tourism within the CITY; 

 
WHEREAS, CITY will receive room tax revenues from the Development  and,  until 

December 31, 2032, desires to provide a cash grant to DEVELOPER in the amount equal to a 
portion of the increased room tax revenues (the “Room Tax”) for the promotion of the Hotel; and  

 
WHEREAS, DEVELOPER would not renovate the Development but for the terms and 

provisions contained in this Agreement. 
 

 



 Development Agreement for Lag Family, LLC 
 

Page 2 of 13 
 

 

 

AGREEMENT 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the terms contained herein and other good and 
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are acknowledged, the CITY and the 
DEVELOPER agree as follows: 

 
1. Recitals Incorporated. The Recitals set forth above are incorporated herein and 

made an enforceable part of this Agreement. 
 

2. Representations and Warranties of the CITY. The CITY represents and 
warrants that: 

(a) The CITY is a public body corporate and politic duly organized and existing 
under the laws of the State of Wisconsin. 

 

(b) The parties signing this Agreement for the CITY have been fully authorized 
to execute this Agreement on behalf of the CITY. 

 
(c) The current base value for the Property is Eight Hundred Twenty-Five 

Thousand Six Hundred and NO/100 Dollars ($825,600.00) (Tax parcel: 59271802471). 
 

(d) The CITY makes no representations or warranties, either express or 
implied, as to the Property, its condition, or that the Property is suitable for DEVELOPER's 
intended purposes or needs.  

 
(e) The CITY will use its best efforts to create TID 8 to include the Property.  

The CITY engaged Ehlers to provide an independent financial analysis of the proposed 
Development. The analysis concluded that the Development is not financially feasible 
without significant public assistance. Further, the analysis indicates that the returns on 
investment, without financial assistance are below industry standards for a project of this 
level of complexity and risk.  

 
(f) The CITY has determined that funding public assistance as an annual 

conditional obligation through December 31, 2052, in accordance with the terms and 
conditions set forth herein and as contemplated by this Agreement, is of public benefit and 
contributes to the general welfare of its citizens because the Development will create both 
temporary construction as well as permanent operational jobs and would redevelop a 
previously underutilized site thereby further serving as an economic catalyst to the CITY by 
expanding the lodging options and amenities which support tourism.   
 

3. Representations and Warranties of DEVELOPER. DEVELOPER represents 
and warrants that: 

 
(a) The DEVELOPER is a Wisconsin limited liability company and is authorized 

to execute this Agreement. 

(b) The parties signing this Agreement for DEVELOPER have full power and 
authority to execute this Agreement on behalf of DEVELOPER and to bind DEVELOPER to 
the covenants, terms and conditions contained in this Agreement. 

(c) DEVELOPER would not construct the Development but for the public 



 Development Agreement for Lag Family, LLC 
 

Page 3 of 13 
 

 

 

improvements set forth in Exhibit B, being provided by the CITY. 

(d) Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the consummation of 
the transactions contemplated hereby, nor the fulfillment of or compliance with the 
covenants, terms and conditions of this Agreement is prevented, limited by or conflicts with 
or results in the breach of, the covenants, terms, conditions or provision of any contractual 
restriction, evidence of indebtedness, agreement, by-laws or instrument of whatever nature 
to which DEVELOPER is now a party or by which it is bound, or constitutes a default under 
any of the foregoing. 

4. Obligations of CITY. 

 
(a) The CITY will provide a cash grant to the DEVELOPER for public improvements 

completed by the DEVELOPER and listed in the attached Exhibit C not to exceed the 
amount of $350,000, subject to the terms of this Agreement.  

 
(b) The CITY will acquire land and make improvements to enhance traffic flow 

and increase downtown parking as shown on Exhibit D, attached hereto and incorporated 
herein (the “Parking Lot”). The CITY shall retain Kapur & Associates, Inc. (“City Engineer”) 
for Parking Lot design and construction.  

 
(c) The CITY will grant to employees and guests of the Hotel up to thirty-five 

(35) free daily and overnight parking passes in the Parking Lot plus ten (10) free overnight 
parking passes for employees of the hotel in the Parking Lot (collectively, the “Parking 
Passes”). The Parking Passes will be issued on a non-exclusive, first-come, first-serve 
basis in the Parking Lot, but may also be used in other parking areas of the CITY as deemed 
appropriate by the City Administrator/Utilities Manager and Director of Public Works.  The 
CITY, through the City Administrator, and DEVELOPER agree, however, to meet annually 
to review and consider any reasonably necessary changes to the Parking Passes based on 
experience.  The CITY and DEVELOPER agree to work together in good faith to develop 
an efficient process for distribution of the Parking Passes.  The Parking Passes shall remain 
in effect during the life of the TID 8, as may be extended from time to time.  Upon closure 
of the TID 8, the CITY and DEVELOPER will meet to discuss the potential extension of 
Parking Passes given the circumstances.  

 
(d) The CITY will complete the public improvements as more specifically set 

forth in Exhibit B (such improvements and the Parking Lot are collectively referred to as 
the “City Improvements”). 

 
(e) Currently, the Room Taxes to be generated by the Hotel can be spent thirty 

(30%) percent by the CITY and seventy (70%) percent by the CITY’s Tourism Promotion 
Agency.  Through the year 2032, the CITY agrees to provide the cash value equivalent of 
one-half of the CITY’s thirty (30%) percent of Room Tax, generated by the Hotel, to 
DEVELOPER as a development grant to be used for the promotion of the Hotel.  

 
5.  Obligations of DEVELOPER. 

 
(a) DEVELOPER shall construct taxable real property improvements on the 

Property to create a total assessed value (including the current increment set forth in 
Section 2(c) above) of at least Seven Million Three Hundred Twenty-Six Thousand and 
00/100 Dollars ($7,326,000.00) (the “Required Value”) on or before December 31, 2027.  

 



 Development Agreement for Lag Family, LLC 
 

Page 4 of 13 
 

 

 

(b) If DEVELOPER fails to construct the Required Value, DEVELOPER shall 
pay to CITY an amount equal to the shortfall in tax revenue that would have been generated 
had DEVELOPER met the Required Value provision (the “Deficiency Payment”).  The 
Deficiency Payment shall be due for any year through 2046, for which the Development did 
not meet or exceed the Required Value on January 1 of that year and the Deficiency 
Payment shall be due on or before October 31, 2028, and each October 31st thereafter until 
the assessed value of the Property exceeds the Required Value.  

(c) DEVELOPER shall construct the public improvements as listed in the 
attached Exhibit C pursuant to the CITY’s designs and specifications (the “Public 
Infrastructure”).  After the City Engineer inspects the Public Infrastructure and finds them to 
meet the CITY’s standards, the DEVELOPER will be deemed to have dedicated the Public 
Infrastructure to the CITY.  

6. Conditions Precedent to CITY's Obligations. CITY's obligation to perform as 
contemplated herein shall require the satisfactory completion, in CITY's sole discretion, of each of 
the following conditions: 

 
(a) All representations and warranties of DEVELOPER set forth in this 

Agreement are true, complete and correct. 

(b) All covenants and obligations of DEVELOPER under this Agreement have 
been timely performed, observed and satisfied. 

(c) TID 8 has been created on or before September 30, 2025. 

7. Conditions Precedent to DEVELOPER's Obligations. DEVELOPER's 
obligation to perform its obligations as contemplated herein shall require the DEVELOPER to have 
received a building permit and final approvals from the State of Wisconsin, County of Sheboygan 
and CITY for the Development, upon terms satisfactory to Developer, with construction of 
improvements to be completed by December 31, 2027. 

 
8. Covenants Running with the Land and Estoppels.  All of the terms and 

conditions set forth herein are intended to be and shall be construed as covenants (and not 
conditions) running with the land, binding upon, inuring to the benefit of and enforceable by the 
parties hereto and their respective heirs, successors and/or assigns.  The CITY shall record a 
memorandum of this Agreement against the Property in the Sheboygan County Register of Deed’s 
Office.  Upon the request of the DEVELOPER, its successors or assigns, the CITY agrees to issue 
one or more estoppel certificates making any reasonable certifications the DEVELOPER may 
request, including but not limited to whether there are then any defaults or breaches under this 
Agreement. 

 
9. Determination of Specifications and Completion Dates. The specifications and 

all other construction requirements for the Public Infrastructure shall be determined solely and 
exclusively by the CITY and the City Engineer. The CITY will use its best effort to have the City 
Improvements completed by November 1, 2026.  

 
10. DEVELOPER Commitment.  In the event DEVELOPER fails to substantially 

construct the Development on or before January 1, 2028, subject to force majeure, then   
DEVELOPER shall reimburse the CITY for all legal fees, engineering fees, and other expenses 
incurred by the CITY related to the City Improvements within thirty (30) days of demand, but not to 
exceed $350,000. 

 



 Development Agreement for Lag Family, LLC 
 

Page 5 of 13 
 

 

 

11. Management of Hotel. Within twelve (12) months of the full execution of this 
Agreement, DEVELOPER shall provide to CITY the identity of the hotel management company that 
will operate hotel.  

 
12. Public Improvement Reimbursement. Upon issuance of an occupancy permit for 

the Development, the CITY shall reimburse the DEVELOPER for its reasonable and documented 
costs of undertaking the Public Improvements listed in the attached Exhibit C, not to exceed Three 
Hundred Fifty Thousand and NO/100 ($350,000). 

13. Property and Development Shall Be Taxable. DEVELOPER, as an inducement to 
CITY to proceed with the City Improvements, hereby represents and agrees, for itself, its 
successors and assigns, as follows: 

(a) That the Development and the Property will be fully taxable pursuant to 
Wisconsin Property Tax Laws. DEVELOPER further represents and agrees for itself, its 
successors and assigns, that during the life of the TID 8 the DEVELOPER shall take no 
action(s) or advocate any position or change in state law which would jeopardize or call into 
question the taxability of the Development and the Property under Wisconsin Property Tax 
Laws. 

(b) Notwithstanding section 13(a), above, in the event that the Development, or 
the Property, or any part thereof, is determined at any time to be exempt from real and/or 
personal property taxation under Wisconsin Tax Laws during the life of the TID 8, 
DEVELOPER, for itself, its successors and assigns, agrees to make annual payments in 
lieu of taxes to CITY in the amounts and within the time periods that would otherwise be 
required if the Development and the Property were fully taxable under Wisconsin Property 
Tax Laws, in recognition of the valuable governmental services and benefits available 
and/or provided to the Development and the Property by the CITY. 

14. Authority and Approvals. The DEVELOPER shall be responsible for obtaining all 
state, county, and CITY approvals required for this Development.  The CITY agrees to close the 
northbound and southbound lanes of Stafford Street from Mill Street to the northern entrance of the 
parking lot on the east side of Stafford Street for the Development until completion of the 
Development or November 1, 2026, whichever is earlier.  The DEVELOPER shall not be required 
to apply for a street privilege permit under City Code Section 6-2-6, however, the remaining 
provisions of Section 6-2-6 shall apply, including DEVELOPER’s requirement to indemnify CITY.  
The sidewalk on the east side of Stafford Street will remain unimpeded and open to pedestrian 
traffic. DEVELOPER agrees to provide status updates on the closure to the City Administrator upon 
request. 

 
15. General Indemnification Agreement. DEVELOPER shall defend, indemnify, and 

hold harmless the CITY, its elected and appointed officers, employees, agents, staff, and attorneys 
from and against all claims, actions, suits, judgments, liabilities, loss, and expenses, including 
reasonable attorney’s fees and litigation costs, arising out of damages or injuries to persons or 
property to the extent they are caused by a negligent or intentional act, error, or omission, 
misconduct, or other fault of the DEVELOPER, or its agents, contractors, subcontractors, or 
employees in the performance of its obligations under this Agreement or arising directly or indirectly 
from this Agreement. This agreement of indemnification shall survive termination of this Agreement 
for a period of two (2) years. 

 
16. No Agency Relationship Created. DEVELOPER is not an agent of the CITY and 

does not possess any actual or implied authority to act for or on behalf of the CITY, with respect to 
the Property and the Development or any other matter. DEVELOPER shall not be an additional 



 Development Agreement for Lag Family, LLC 
 

Page 6 of 13 
 

 

 

insured under the CITY’s insurance policy. The CITY shall not have any obligation to indemnify or 
defend DEVELOPER related to any liability attributable to DEVELOPER or any matter arising out 
of, directly or indirectly, this Agreement. 

 
17. Default. In the event DEVELOPER defaults on any payment or the performance 

of any obligation required by this Agreement, and such default continues for more than a period 
of sixty (60) days after written notice from the CITY, then the CITY shall have all its rights and 
remedies provided for at law or equity. All DEVELOPER payments required by this Agreement 
shall be due and payable in full on the dates indicated herein, or within thirty (30) days from written 
demand by the CITY. Any sum or sums not received by the CITY on the dates indicated herein, or 
within thirty (30) days of written demand shall be charged interest at the rate of 1.5% per month 
(18% per annum) for any month or portion of any month that said sum remains unpaid. Except as 
otherwise expressly stated in this Agreement, the rights and remedies of the parties are 
cumulative, and the exercise by any party of one or more of such rights or remedies shall not 
preclude the exercise by it, at the same or different times of any other rights or remedies for the 
same default or any other default by the other party. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary 
contained in this Agreement, neither party shall be entitled to recover punitive or consequential 
damages resulting from any breach or default by the other party under this Agreement. 

 
18. Term. The term of this Agreement shall commence upon the full execution of this 

Agreement and shall continue in full force and effect until DEVELOPER and CITY have satisfied all 
obligations required of it by this Agreement. The parties agree on behalf of themselves and their 
successors in interest and assigns, notwithstanding any contrary provision of law or equity that this 
Agreement shall continue in effect throughout its term. The CITY and the DEVELOPER agree that 
upon the DEVELOPER's request after satisfaction of DEVELOPER's obligations herein, the parties 
shall promptly execute a recordable document terminating this Agreement. 

19. Other Terms. 
 

(a) Entire Agreement. This Agreement and the ancillary documents 
contemplated herein constitute the entire agreement between the parties hereto. This 
Agreement shall not be altered or amended, except by agreement in writing, executed by 
the parties hereto. 
 

(b) Severability. If any provisions, or portions thereof, of this Agreement or 
the application thereof to any persons or circumstances shall, to any extent, be invalid or 
unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement or the application of such provision, or 
portion thereof, to any other persons or circumstances shall not be affected hereby and 
each provision of this Agreement shall be valid and enforceable to the fullest extent 
permitted by law. 

(c) Binding Effect. This Agreement and each and all of the terms, covenants, 
and conditions hereof, shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties and 
their respective heirs, personal representatives, successors, and/or assigns, and no third 
party, other than such heirs, personal representatives, successors, and/or assigns, shall be 
entitled to enforce any term, covenant or condition of this Agreement or have any rights 
hereunder. Until this Agreement is terminated, all of the covenants, agreements, terms and 
conditions of this Agreement shall run with the Property and inure to the benefit of and be 
binding upon the CITY and the DEVELOPER, its agents or affiliates, and their respective 
successors and assigns during the term of this Agreement. 

(d) Survival. All of the terms, conditions, and provisions of this Agreement that 
are intended to survive termination of this Agreement, including but not limited to, all 



 Development Agreement for Lag Family, LLC 
 

Page 7 of 13 
 

 

 

indemnification provisions, shall survive the termination of this Agreement for a period of 
one year. 

 
(e) Time is of Essence. The times of performance of the terms and 

requirements of this Agreement and of the satisfaction and waiver of the conditions hereof 
are essential to the whole of this Agreement. 

 
(f) Waiver. No delay or omission by any of the parties hereto, or their heirs, 

successors, and/or assigns, to exercise any right or power accruing upon any non- 
compliance or failure of performance by another party under the provisions of this 
Agreement shall impair any such right or power or be construed to be a waiver thereof. A 
waiver by either of the parties hereto, or their heirs, successors, and/or assigns, of any of 
the covenants, conditions or agreements hereof to be performed by another shall not be 
construed to be a waiver of any succeeding breach thereof or of any other covenant, 
condition or agreement herein contained. 

 
(g) Force Majeure. The obligations of any of the parties hereunder shall be 

suspended to the extent that it is hindered or prevented from complying therewith because of 
labor disturbances, including strikes and lockouts, acts of God, fires, storms, accidents, 
public health emergencies, or any cause whatsoever beyond the control of the parties. 

 
(h) Headings. The headings in this Agreement are for convenience and 

reference only, and in no way define or limit the scope and content of this Agreement or in 
any way affect its provisions. 

(i) Notices. Any notice, demand, or statement required or permitted to be 
given under this Agreement shall be in writing and be deemed to have been properly given or 
served if: (i) personally delivered to the other party; (ii) sent by overnight courier; or (iii) 
deposited in the United States mail, postage prepaid and addressed to the address set forth 
below: 

 
If to CITY: City of Plymouth 
 Attn: City Administrator  
 128 Smith St. 
 Plymouth, WI 53073 
 
With a copy to: City Attorney Crystal Fieber  
 HOPP NEUMANN HUMKE LLP 

2124 Kohler Memorial Drive, Suite 310 
 Sheboygan, WI 53081 

 
 
If to DEVELOPER: LAG Family, LLC   
 c/o Chad Hamilton  
 1 Persnickety Pl 
 Plymouth, WI 53073 

(j) Change of Address. Any party hereto may change the address to which 
notices to such party shall be sent, by written notice to the other parties given in accordance 
with this Agreement. At such time as a party transfers its interest under this Agreement so 
as to create a new party in interest, the previous party in interest or such new party in 
interest shall send notice to the other parties of the name and address to which notice to 



 Development Agreement for Lag Family, LLC 
 

Page 8 of 13 
 

 

 

the new party shall be sent or delivered. Until such time as such notice is given, the previous 
party in interest shall be deemed to be the agent for such new party in interest for purposes 
of receipt of service of notices. 

(k) Governing Law; Venue. This Agreement shall be governed by and 
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Wisconsin. Any action to enforce or 
concerning this Agreement shall be brought in the Circuit Court for Sheboygan County, 
Wisconsin. 

(l) Immunity. Nothing contained in this Agreement constitutes a waiver of the 
CITY's sovereign or governmental immunities under applicable law. 

(m) Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of 
counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original. 

 
(n) CITY Authorization. The Mayor and Clerk are hereby authorized, on 

behalf of the CITY, to execute all documents convenient or necessary to carry out the terms 
of this Agreement and effect the transaction described herein. 

(o) Authority. The persons executing this Agreement represent that they have 
the legal authority to bind the respective party for which such signature is made. 

 
(p) Consents. The parties agree that whenever the consent or approval of a 

party is required hereunder, that such consent or approval shall not be unreasonably 
withheld, delayed or encumbered. With respect to consents or approvals by or from the 
DEVELOPER, the Manager shall be the authorized person to grant such consents or 
approvals on behalf of DEVELOPER. With respect to consents or approvals by or from the 
CITY, the Mayor or City Administrator, shall be the authorized persons to grant such 
consents or approvals on behalf of the CITY. 

 
(q) Mutual Drafting. This Agreement is the result of negotiated agreement by 

the parties, and prior to the execution of this Agreement; each party had sufficient 
opportunity to have review of the document by legal counsel. Nothing in the Agreement 
shall be construed more strictly for or against either party because that party's attorney 
drafted this Agreement or any portion thereof or any attachments hereto. 
  



 Development Agreement for Lag Family, LLC 
 

Page 9 of 13 
 

 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the CITY and the DEVELOPER have executed this Agreement 
as of the year and date indicated below. 

CITY: 
 

CITY OF PLYMOUTH  
 
 
 

Dated:  , 2025. By:   
Donald O. Pohlman, Mayor 

 
Dated:  , 2025. By:   

Anna Voigt, City Clerk 

 
AUTHENTICATION 
Signatures of Donald O. Pohlman and Anna 
Voigt authenticated this  ___ day of 
______________, 2025. 

 

 
Crystal Fieber 
Title: Member State Bar of Wisconsin 
State Bar No. 1061351 

 
 

(The remainder of this page intentionally blank; 
Developer’s signature page to follow.) 



 Development Agreement for Lag Family, LLC 
 

Page 10 of 13 
 

 

 

DEVELOPER: 
 

LAG Family, LLC,  
 

 
 
 

Dated:  , 2025. By:   
                                , Manager 

 
 
 
 
 
 

STATE OF WISCONSIN ) 
)ss 

SHEBOYGAN COUNTY ) 

Personally came before me this  day of _________________, 2025, 
______________________, to me know to be the persons who executed the foregoing 
instrument and acknowledged the same. 

 
 
 

 
 
 



 

 

EXHIBIT A 
Legal Description of Property 

 

(legal description to be inserted) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Property Parcel #: 59271802471 
 



 

 

Exhibit B 
Public Improvements to be Undertaken by City 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
• As identified in TID#8 project plan - City is undertaking mill/overlay of the eastern 

half of Stafford St. (~510 sq. yards). 
• As identified in TID#8 project plan - City is undertaking a new crosswalk by the 

American Legion.



 

 

EXHIBIT C 
Site and Public Improvement Plan 

Eligible for Developer Reimbursement – Not to Exceed $350,000.00 
 

(THESE ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE – MUTUAL AGREEMENT) 
 
 
  



 

 

EXHIBIT D 
 

The Parking Lot Improvements 
 

 
 
 

 



1 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 
City of Plymouth 
128 Smith St. - P.O. Box 107 
Plymouth, WI  53073-0107 
   

 

 
 
 

Telephone: (920) 893-3745 
Facsimile: (920) 893-0183 

     Web Site:        plymouthgov.com 
 
 

 
DATE: June 19, 2025 

TO: Mayor and Common Council 
 
FROM: Tim Blakeslee, City Administrator Utilities Manager  
 
RE: Approval of Property and Easement Acquisitions for West Stafford Street Parking 

Lot Project 
 

 
Background: The primary city project of TID #8 and the Development Agreement with LAG 
Family LLC involves redevelopment of the West Stafford Street Parking Lot. The draft 
parking lot design is provided below. To facilitate this project, the City needs to acquire 
property from five primary parcels and obtain minor easements from three additional 
parcels. 
 
In late February, the Common 
Council approved an agreement with 
MJBarnes & Associates, LLC to 
conduct a sales study. This study was 
completed, and staff subsequently 
developed purchase offers based on 
its findings. 
 
Staff has obtained signed offers from 
the five property owners, contingent 
upon several factors including the 
creation of TID #8, approval of the 
Development Agreement, and other 
property-specific requirements. The 
City aims to close on these properties 
soon after the creation of TID #8 to enable construction to begin later this fall. 
 
Additionally, staff has preliminary agreement from the three property owners regarding 
required easements for underground infrastructure. Kapur is finalizing the legal descriptions 
of these easements, after which staff will complete and secure necessary signatures. 
 
Recommendation:  
7B. Authorize the City Administrator to execute and finalize documentation to acquire 
properties as detailed in Attachment 1, subject to the City Attorney’s approval as to form. 
 
7C. Authorize the City Administrator to execute and finalize easement documentation for 
properties as detailed in Attachment 1, subject to the City’s Attorney’s approval as to form. 
 
Attachments: Property and Easement Acquisition Chart 
 



2 | P a g e  
 

Attachment 1:  
 

 

Tax ID Parcel Size (SF) Acquisition (SF) Offer

59271802590 10,019 1,915.86 $12,663.83

59271802550 9,012 1690.65 $11,019.52
59271802540 8,712 2,691.04 $18,837.28

59271802530 and  
59271812360 11,857 5,341.78 $43,863.79

59271802520 10,175 5,250.42 $34,442.76

59271803870 5,682 258.37 easement $511.57
59271802490 2,845 32.96 easement $72.18

59271802480 4,256 216.55 easement $452.59

Total $121,863.52


	Common Council Agenda 06-24-25
	Consent Agenda
	3A. Council Minutes 06/10/25
	3BI. Electric, Water and Sewer Sales Report - May 2025
	3BII. Utility Related Write Offs for June 2025 - $706.92
	3C. Minutes Acknowledged for filing
	3D. Approve Alcohol Beverage License Applications July 1, 2025 to June 30, 2026
	3E. Approve request from the Plymouth School District to hold the annual Homecoming Parade on October 3, 2025. Line up beginning at 3:15 PM. Parade starts 4:15 PM at Mill St. and C

	Resolutions
	6A. No. 8 Consideration and Possible Action on a "Resolution Creating Tax Incremental District No. 8, Approving its Project Plan and Establishing its Boundaries.:
	6B. No. 9 Resolution Authorizing the Issuance and Sale of not to Exceed $6,990,000 General Obligation Promissory Notes, Series 2025A

	New Business
	7A. Discussion and Possible Action on Development Agreement with LAG Family LLC
	7B. Discussion and Possible Action on Offers to Purchase Property for West Stafford Parking Lot Project/ 7C. Discussion and Possible Action on Easement for West Stafford Parking Project




